HUSBAND'S INVOLVEMENT IN MATERNAL CARE AMONG WOMEN OF CHILDBEARING AGE ATTENDING POST NATAL CLINIC IN IBADAN

BY

UMEZURIKE EMEKA

B.Sc (Hons.) Microbiology (Leadcity uni)
182718

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF EPIDEMIOLOGY
AND MEDICAL STATISTICS
FACULTY OF PUBLIC HEALTH, COLLEGE OF MEDICINE
UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN, NIGERIA

IN PARTIAL FUFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF A MASTER DEGREE (M.SC) IN EPIDEMIOLOGY

JANUARY 2016

CERTIFICATION

I certify that this research work was duly carried out directly under my supervision and also meets the regulations governing the award of the degree of M.Sc. Epidemiology of the department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics, Faculty of Public Health, College of Medicine, University of Ibadan.

Dr. B.O Adedokun

MBBS, M.Sc(Epid and Med. Stat)(1b.)

Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics

College of Medicine

University of Ibadan

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to God Almighty, the God of all wisdom, Knowledge and source of strength, to my parents who have continued to support me and lastly my departed Grandmother Mrs. Emily Umezurike.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I sincerely thank and appreciate the Almighty God who made this possible. I cannot not thank you enough for your love and affection and for keeping me alive until this moment. I appreciate the effort of my parents Dr. and Mrs. Kenneth Umezurike. Your labour over me and my siblings will never be in vain and you shall reap the fluits of your Labour .Amen.

I also want to appreciate my supervisor and lecturer Dr. Babatunde Adedokun for being a big brother and supervisor. You painstakingly went through and corrected my error laden document so many times that I cannot thank you enough. My good God shall reward you accordingly for your efforts. I also thank the HOD of my department Prof. Fawole for her motherly care and direction as well as all the other wonderful lecturers in EMS who have put in so much into teaching and advising us.

This will not be complete without me appreciating my family members- Chiwendu, Ifeoma, Ikechukwu, Deborah, Chioma, Seyi, Christy and Michael for their love, support and encouragement. Lastly, I do thank my fiancée and partner in this worldly journey Miss. Ogechukwukanma Josephine Offorjindu for her care and support throughout this programme.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACROYNMS

ANC Antenatal Care

MMR Maternal mortality ratio

NARHS
National AIDS and Reproductive household survey

NDHS Nigeria Demographic and Health Survey

NPC National Population Commission

UNDP United Nation Development Programmes

UNFPA United Nations Fund for Population Activities

UNICEF United Nations Children Endowment Fund

USAID United States Agency for International Development

PNC Postnatal Care

PeD Place of Delivery

WHO World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Background: Nigeria recorded more than 40,000 deaths of women in 2013 third after India and Serria lone as countries with the highest maternal mortality rate in the world. Men's participation in antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care is crucial to the health of the mothers and neonates. Nevertheless, very few men participate in maternal health, especially in developing countries. The objective of this study is to determine the current level of participation of men in maternal care and preferences of women attending the post natal clinic at Adeoyo Maternity Hospital Ibadan.

Methodology: A cross-sectional study design was used. Systematic random sampling was used to recruit a total of 335 women attending post natal clinic on immunization and breastfeeding clinic days. The women were interviewed with a self administered questionnaire consisting of three sections: demographics, Husband's involvement in pregnancy, Labour and Post natal/ baby care and perception, preference and barriers to Husband's involvement in their wives care. The mean value of all the responses was calculated with values below the mean was considered to be low involvement and those above the mean were considered as high involvement. Analysis were done using SPSS version 16. Chi-square test and binary Logistic regression was used to analyze associations between the independent variables and husband's involvement which was categorized as High or Low.

Results: The mean age of the respondents was 30.7 ± 5.4 years. More than half of the respondents attended a tertiary institution 178 (53.5%), while 141 (42.3%) attended secondary school. About a third of our respondents had one previous pregnancy while 39% have had two other pregnancies. About 86% of the women reported their husbands of encouraged them to book for ANC however about 37% ever accompanied their wives to ANC. During the period of labour about 67% of the men were present from the onset of labour and followed their wives to the hospital. Husband's number of antenatal visits s affected their involvement in labour as husbands attending one ANC had 66% high involvement in their wives care during labour and those who attended two ANC have 75% high husband involvement in maternal care. About 37% of men accompanied their wives for PNC. Muslim respondents were significantly four times less likely than their Christian counterparts to want husband's involvement in their care. (OR= 0.27, 95%CI=0.13-0.56)

Conclusion A higher proportion of men were present during labour compared to ANC and PNC. Also a high percentage of the women wanted their husbands fully involved in their care. Campaigns are needed to promote a greater involvement of men in the maternal care of their wives.

Key words: Husband involvement, ANC, Labour, Pregnancy,

Word Count: 439

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certification Dedication Acknowledgement List of abbreviations and acronyms Table of contents List of tables List of figures Abstract Chapter One Introduction..... Background Problem Statement..... Object ives......3 General Objectives......3 Chapter two Literature Review.....4 2.1 Overview / Burden of Maternal mortality Globally, in African and Nigeria......4 2.2 Diseases and conditions which cause maternal mortality......4 2.3 Intervention to Lower Maternal Mortality Globally, in Africa, Sub-Sahara Africa and in Nigeria.....7 The role of social support in labour and delivery, lowering stressors and reducing maternal 2.4 mortality.....8 Chapter 3 3.4 Inclusion Criteria 12

3.5 Sample size determination
3.6 Sampling Techniques
3.7 Data collection
3.8 Data Management and Analysis
3.9Ethical Consideration15
3.9.1 Ethical Approval
3.9.2 Informed Consent
3.9.3 Confidentiality
Chapter Four
Results16
Characteristics of respondents
Distribution of respondents by socio demographic characteristics16
Obstetric History of Respondents
4.3 Husband's involvement in Antenatal care
4.4 Husband's involvement During Labour and Delivery
4.5 Husband's involvement During Post Natal Period as well as Baby care28
4.6 Women's perception and preference to husband's Involvement in Maternal
Care32
4.7: Barriers to Husband's involvement in maternal health
4.8Association between Husband's involvement in Pregnancy and Socio demographic factors
4.9 Association between Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic
factors40
4.10 Association between Husband's Involvement during post natal care and Socio demographic
factors44
4.11 Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during
pregnancy
4.12 Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during
Labour
13Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect to
nusband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post
partum
1.14 Association between number of Babies on Scan result and Husband's Involvement in
regnancy

4.15 Association between Husband's involvement in Antenatal care and Admission during
pregnancy58
4.16 Association between Husband's involvement in Labor and complication during labor and
delivery
Chapter Five
5.0 Discussion
5 i 1 Husband's Involvement During Ante Natal Care
5.1.2Husband's Involvement During Labour
5.1.3 Husband's involvement during Post natal care
5.1.4 Preferences and Barriers towards Male involvement in Maternal care of their Women from Pregnancy
to Post-partum
5.2 Limitation and strengths of the study
5.6 Conclusion
5.7 Recommendation
References
Appendix A
Ethical Approval
LIST OF TABLES
Table 4.1: Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Respondents
Table 4.2 Obstetric I-listory of Respondents
Table 4.3 Husband's involvement in Antenatal care
Table 4.4: Husband's involvement During Labour and Delivery
Table 4.5:Husband's involvement During Post Natal Period as well as Baby care
Table 4.6: Women's perception to husband's Involvement in Maternal Care
Table 4.7: Women's preference to husband's Involvement in Maternal Care
Table 4.8: Barriers to Husband's involvement in maternal health
Table 4.9 Husband's involvement in Pregnancy and Socio demographic factors
Table 4:10: Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic factors
Table 4.11: Husband's Involvement during post natal care and Socio demographic factors45
Table 4.12: Binary logistic regression of association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's
nvolvement during pregnancy48

Table 4.13: Binary logistic regression of association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's
involvement during Labour50
Table 4.14: Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect
to husband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post partum
Table 4 15 Number of Babies on Scan result and Husband's Involvement in Pregnancy57
Table 4.16 : Association between Husband's involvement in Antenatal care and Admission during
pregnancy59
Table 4.17: Association between Husband's involvement in Labor and complication during labor and
delivery

HUSBAND'S INVOLVEMENT IN MATERNAL CARE AMONG WOMEN OF CHILDBEARING AGE ATTENDING POST NATAL CLINIC IN IBADAN

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Globally 800 women die every day from child bearing related issues. (WHO,2014). An estimated 290,000 women die each year in developing countries from pregnancy-related causes, and 2.9 million newborns die in the first month of life (UNFPA 2014). Sub-Saharan Africa has a combined average maternal mortality rate of 500 per 100,000 live births according to UNFPA estimates of 2010. (WHO,2014). According to International business times (Ludovica May 2014) Nigeria recorded more than 40,000 deaths of women in 2013 by WH• figures making her third after India and Sierra -Lone out of the five countries with the highest maternal mortality rate in the world. Current statistics in NDHS 2013 puts maternal mortality in Nigeria at 576 per 100,000 women. (NPC and ICF, 2014) .This figure is high and indicates that measures must be taken to reduce maternal mortality.

The period of pregnancy all the way to delivery and post natal care can be a time of mixed feelings in women. It is a time of both joy and fear. Joy at the fact that a new child is being brought to life and fear of the unknown (Waquas et al., 2014). This fear stems from the fact that so many issues are involved in child bearing and child birth, issues from eclampsia, bleeding and blood loss, hypertension, anaemia etc. A number of these issues are driven by hormonal changes and the differences which occur in the woman's body from the moment she becomes pregnant through to the post natal period (Waquas et al., 2014).

Studies done in Nigeria have demonstrated that the presence of spousal support during labor and delivery helps for better outcomes of delivery and reduction of maternal mortality. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014). The study is interested in women's are reported role of their husbands in their reproductive health care especially during the period of labour, childbirth, and post-partum. This study seeks to investigate outcomes of pregnancy with husbands involved and how this can lead to better, more productive and less stressful pregnancy with the overall aim of reducing maternal mortality.

1.2 PROBLEM STATEMENT

Despite the enormous amount of effort and resources which has been put into tackling high maternal mortality rates, they have remained high globally and in Nigeria. Sub –Saharan Africa has its current maternal mortality rate put at 500 deaths per 100,000 live births (WHO, 2014). Maternal mortality has remained high with Sub-Sahara constituting for 62% of global maternal deaths and Nigeria contributing

14% to maternal deaths globally (Sajedinejad . 2015). MMR has also remained high in Nigeria with a ratio of 630 deaths per 100,000 live births according to Ndep (2014). In Nigeria the scourge is on and raging like a wild fire.

Estimates such as the 576 deaths per 100,000 live births is given in the current NDHS carried out in 2013 show that a lot still has to be done to combat this problem. Two nationally representative surveys recently conducted in Nigeria. Nigeria Demographic and Health Survey (NDHS) in 2013 and National AIDS and Reproductive household survey (NARHS) in 2012 showed that the proportion of pregnant women who had not attended any ANC services in Nigeria was 33.9% and 34.9% respectively (Fabmigbe and Idemudia, 2015). About 63 % of the women who had given birth in the last 5 years did not utilize postnatal care this could be due to a high number (63 %) of home births by the mothers in Nigeria (Somefun and Ibisanmi, 2016). The Nigeria Demographic and Health Survey (NDHS) 2013 estimated its Neonatal Mortality Rate (NMR) as 37 per 1000 live births which constituted about 54% of infant mortality (Akinyemi et al., 2015).

Although most of maternal deaths are preventable, yet maternal mortality remains high and progress in combating maternal mortality has not been satisfactory (Sajedinejad, 2015). A Nigerian study indicated that only about 27% of men are involved in their wives care and about 51% had poor knowledge of maternal health. (Olugbenga-Bello et al, 2013). Psycho social support has been shown to be associated with better outcomes for delivery and maternal health in general (Morhason- Bello et al, 2009). There has also continued to be a lack of involvement of males in maternal health even as they remain crucial partners with women in the issue of reproductive health (Singh et al, 2014). This study therefore intends to find out the current level of involvement of husbands in providing social support for their wife, barriers to such support and preferences of the women, during pregnancy and post natal care as reported by the wives. Positive male (husband)Involvement in maternal health is defined as the mental and physical participation of males (husbands) in maternal and prenatal health and family planning in such a way as to increase maternal and infant survival rates and improve family planning outcomes (USAID, 2009).

1.3 JUSTIFICATION

Studies carried out in Nigeria report conflicting percentages of men involvement in women's care as regards maternal health. (Adenike et al, 2013). Benefits of this study will include determining the current level of participation of men in maternal health. This study intends to understand the role which women expect their men to play during the period of pregnancy and childbirth. Studies which have been done in Nigeria focuses on eliciting data from men about their involvement in women's care. This study intends to elicit information from the women on the reported involvement of their husbands in their care.

Men need to ensure that their partners make it through this trying period and come through without losing their lives or that of their infants at this crucial time. This study also wants to look at paternity leave as a strategy for involving males in maternal health and if there is any merit to such thinking. This study

intends to sway the thinking of government and policy makers by convincing them of the roles which can be played by husbands in achieving positive outcomes of pregnancy. Adequate laws and policies can then be made to ensure that husbands and partners can be with their women during this trying time of delivery. This study also hopes to pave the way for future research so that more light can be thrown on the subject of the involvement of husbands in the care of their partners and how it could lead to more desirable and better outcomes and a drastic reduction in the maternal mortality rate both in Nigeria and Sub-Saharan Africa as a whole. There is also the issue of how to better improve the participation of men in their women's care.

1.4 OBJECTIVES

1.5 GENERAL OBJECTIVE

This study is to determine women's reported level of involvement of their husbands in their care during pregnancy, delivery and post natal care in relation to better and improved outcomes of pregnancy.

1.6 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

To determine the current level of participation of men during pregnancy, childbirth and post-partum period

To determine the preference and expectation of women with respect to their husband's involvement in their care.

To identify the women's reported barriers towards husband's involvement in their partners care

To determine if a relationship exists between husband's involvement and outcomes of delivery

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.10VERVIEW / BURDEN OF MATERNAL MORTALITY GLOBALLY, IN AFRICA AND IN NIGERIA

About 800 women die every day from pregnancy and child birth related issues and sadly from preventable causes. It is also worthy of note that 90% these maternal deaths occur in the developing regions and countries of the world (Kendall and Langer, 2015). In 2010 there were an estimated 287,000 maternal deaths worldwide. Sub-Saharan Africa accounted for 56 percent of these deaths (Mangeni et al., 2013). Nigeria is a diverse society with a population size of about 170 million people with demographic data showing that 50.6% were males and 49.4% were females make up this overwhelming population size (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014).

A high burden of these deaths is borne by developing countries especially Nigeria where the maternal mortality and morbidity rates have remained one of the highest globally. Data shows a daunting maternal mortality ratio of 1500/100,000 births in Nigeria accounting for nearly 15% of the global estimates of maternal mortality...(Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014). Furthermore, the death risk faced during pregnancy or childbirth by Nigerian women is greater than that of women in half of other African countries put together as antenatal care coverage and institutional delivery estimated at 47% and 33% respectively (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014).

2.2 DISEASES AND CONDITIONS WHICH CAUSE MARTENAL MORTALITY

Maternal mortality is an expression of the social, cultural and gender equity disadvantages that women experience and the capacity of a health system to respond maternal health needs(Farrokh-Eslamlou, 2014). Maternal death is defined as the death of a female of reproductive age during pregnancy, labor or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy from causes that are related to or aggravated by pregnancy and relevant care (WHO, 2014). A lot of conditions have been known and identified by literature to be the cause of maternal deaths. Maternal deaths are measured by maternal mortality ratios per country and are reported as the number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births. (WHO, 2014).

This definition allows identification of maternal deaths, based on their causes as either direct or indirect. Direct obstetric deaths are those resulting from obstetric complications of the pregnant state (pregnancy, delivery, and postpartum), from interventions, omissions, incorrect treatment, or from a chain of events resulting from any of the above. Deaths due to, for example, haemorrhage, pre eclampsia /eclampsia or those due to complications of anaesthesia or caesarean section are classified as direct obstetric deaths. Indirect obstetric deaths are those resulting from previous existing disease, or diseases that developed during pregnancy, and which were not due to direct obstetric causes but aggravated by physiological effects of pregnancy. For example, deaths due to aggravation of an existing cardiac or renal disease are indirect obstetric deaths. (WHO ,2005)

Maternal mortality is extremely high during labour, delivery and within 48 hours after delivery. A study done in Bangladesh showed that, 40% of maternal death from all causes occurred at these times (Paulo, 2011). Another study showed that about 60 percent of the maternal deaths occur during child birth and immediate post-partum period, with 50% of these deaths occurring within the first 24 hours of delivery. (Paulo, 2011). Pregnancy has been shown to be the leading cause of deaths for young women aged 15 through 19 and the other group at high risk is that with advanced maternal age of above 35 years. (Paulo, 2011)

Obstetric haemorrhage accounts for 25% of all maternal deaths globally with primary postpartum haemorrhage (PPH) the largest share of the cases. Mortality due to haemorrhage reflects the appropriateness of obstetric care. It is not only the largest contributing factor in developing countries but it is also the leading cause in the most developed nations. (khanum .2013) .According to the world health organization, Severe bleeding, infection, pregnancy induced high blood pressure and unsafe abortion accounts for 80% of all maternal deaths. (WHO, 2014). Other causes of maternal mortality have also been identified yet nearly two-thirds of maternal deaths worldwide are mainly due to five direct causes which are haemorrhage, obstructed labour, eclampsia (pregnancy induced hypertension), sepsis and complications of unsafe abortion.(shah, 2008).

We also have the issue of delay in getting health care as one of the reasons especially in developing countries for the death of mothers. (shah, 2008). Delay was also identified in three stages as delay in decision to seek care, reaching a health care centre, or finally in getting attention for a qualified health professional. (Shah, 2008) Causes of maternal death are also broadly divided into direct and indirect causes. The direct causes of maternal death include:

Haemorrhage

Hypertensive disorders

Unsafe abortion

Puerperal sepsis

Obstructed labour

Ruptured uterus

Hyper emesis

Chorioamnionitis

The indirect causes of maternal death also include:

Hepatic encephalopathy

Congenital heart disease

Anaemic heart failure

Epilepsy

All these causes have been listed and identified as the causes of maternal death. (Shah, 2008). Most of the maternal deaths occur due to avoidable factors. A study done on maternal mortality in Ilala district in Dar es salaam found that three quarters of the women dying as a result of pregnancy had been seen by health care provider died in a health facility. The study further explained that poor management has been shown to increase maternal mortality. Quality of care was adversely affected by lack of supplies. Blood and drugs were not available in the majority of cases with suboptimal care (Paulo, 2011).

Studies done in Enugu Nigeria also showed that MMR of 2397.3 per 100,000. Major avoidable factors were substandard care (27.7%), delay in seeking care (19.1%), financial constraints (8.4%), delay in recognizing problem (6.4%), lack of blood (4.3%), lack of drugs (2.1%) and no major avoidable factors were identified in 29.8% (20). (Paulo, 2011). It is estimated that abortion complications contribute about 20% of maternal deaths worldwide (Paulo .2011). In every 8 minutes a woman in a developing country will die of complications arising from an unsafe abortion (Paulo, 2011). Unsafe abortion is one of the leading causes of maternal mortality with 13% worldwide and in developing countries 55% of all abortions are unsafe. (Paulo, 2011).

Various studies have shown the impact of indirect obstetric causes like HIV/AIDS, malaria, heart diseases and anaemia to be significant causes of maternal mortality. (Paulo, 2011). Other studies have also given various causes for maternal deaths both at the hospitals and outside the hospitals. According to farrokh-Eslamlou (2014) the causes of hospital maternal deaths include:

Obstetric haemorrhage

Uterine atony

Haemorrhage from caesarean section

Laceration and uterine rupture

Placental abruption

Ectopic pregnancy

Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy

HELLP syndrome

Acute pulmonary oedeina

Acute fatty liver

Cerebrovascular disease

Eclampsia

Infections both obstetric and non- obstetric

Heart disease

Pulmonary embolism

Intracranial haemorrhage

Anaesthesia related

The causes of death outside the hospital facilities include:

Post-partum haemorrhage

Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy

Infection

Heart disease

Pulmonary thromboembolism

2.3 INTERVENTIONS TO LOWER MATERNAL MORTALITY GLOBALLY, IN AFRICA, SUB-SAHARA AFRICA AND IN NIGERIA

Different kinds of interventions aimed at reducing maternal and child mortality rates have been implemented in low- and middle-income countries. (Yuan et al, 2014) Some interventions try to improve maternal and child health by improving material circumstances where women or children live, such as provision of nutrition supplementation while others try to improve the delivery of maternal and children health services, such as promotion of immunization by outreach campaign. (Yuan et al, 2014). Interventions also target demand sides and remove the physical, financial or other barriers to access to maternal or child health services, such as, subsidies for use of health services, community based information, education and communication interventions (Yuan et al, 2014)

In order to attain optimum level of health during pregnancy and the best possible maternal and neonatal health outcomes, effective interventions need to be delivered during preconception period and throughout pregnancy (Lassi et al., 2014). Interventions delivered during pregnancy play a definitive beneficial role for improved maternal, foetal and neonatal health and survival (Lassi et al., 2014).

The effectiveness of the content, frequency, and timing of visits in currently recommended programs for routine antenatal care is yet to be ascertained and data from observational studies have shown that groups that have more antenatal-care visits have lower maternal, fetal, and neonatal morbidity and mortality than those who have fewer antenatal-care visits (Lassi et al., 2014).

During pregnancy, mothers who have iron deficiency anaemia have shown to have inadequate weight gain needed to maintain a healthy foetus; have weak immune system causing them to be more prone to infections; have heavy placentas; and are at a higher risk of neonates being born either prematurely or with LBW. Maternal outcomes are shown to be greatly improved with iron supplementation (Lassi et al., 2014).

Smoking during pregnancy has serious consequences on the health and wellbeing of the newborn child and It has important deleterious effects on the baby at birth and throughout the early development of the child (Lassi et al., 2014). The smoking cessation strategies in pregnancy include provision of advice and counselling using various tools (written and electronic resources and telephone support), cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and motivational interviewing, advice and counselling based on feedback of foetal health status or measurement of by-products of tobacco smoking in the mother, provision of

pharmacological agents such as nicotine replacement therapy and bupropion, social support and encouragement, including the use of rewards for cessation and other interventions such as hypnosis. (Lassi et al., 2014).

Family planning uptake has remained the foremost and cheap strategy to reducing maternal mortality ratio both globally and in Nigeria but, it implementation in developing countries has not received the much desired successes and this is the case in Nigeria also. (Ojegbede et al., 2014) Family planning helps to prevent unwanted pregnancies and eliminates recourse to abortions. Both short and long inter-pregnancy intervals are associated with adverse perinatal outcomes such as preterm birth, low birth weight (LBW), small for gestational age (SGA) and perinatal death. This link, however, may be confounded by different maternal characteristics and socioeconomic status (Lassi et al. 2014).

MgSO4 is used in the treatment of severe preeclampsia and eclampsia. Use of MgSO4 in patients with severe pre-eclampsia reduced the risk of progression to eclampsia by more than half and reduced maternal mortality. The effect of MgSO4 on perinatal outcomes has also been studied, demonstrating significantly improved outcomes for newborns compared to phenytoin.

2.4 THE ROLE OF SOCIAL SUPPORT IN LABOUR AND DELIVERY

The influence of social relationships on health status has been recognized increasingly in public health and epidemiological research (Balaji et al., 2007). The potent role that social relationships play in stress processes has become increasingly well understood through research on social support, social networks, and social integration (Rini et al., 2006). Social support influences health and well-being and research findings show that social support positively influences pregnancy outcomes. (Roth., 2004). Clearly, received support is a complex phenomenon as it involves transactions between two people, usually in an interdependent relationship, whose needs and goal s in any given circumstance may or may not correspond (Rini et al., 2006).

It is proposed that a more complete understanding of received support and its effectiveness is best achieved by joint consideration of the perceived quality and quantity of support attempts by specific providers and the extent to which attempted support meets recipients' needs.(Rini et al., 2006). Social support should be valuable to all expectant mothers, yet life circumstances may place some women in greater need than others. For example, adolescents, unmarried women, and women with few economic resources may be especially likely to benefit more from social support. Pregnancy is not uniformly stressful for all women, and there is growing evidence that women with especially high prenatal stress are at greater risk for poor outcomes (Collins et al 1993)One study of Israeli women who had recently given buth found that the intimacy of a close relationship predicted greater support satisfaction and also predicted that relationships with partners characterized by higher quality, more emotional closeness and intimacy, and greater equity would be more conducive and more effective when providing support from the baby's father (Rini et al , 2006).

The significance of social support in relation to health and well-being has been extensively researched and well established as a positive influence. Research on social support specifically focused on pregnant women has shown it to influence outcomes of pregnancy positively. (Roth ,2004). Social support in relation to depressed mood during pregnancy was frequently reported in relevant literature. Women with little social support were more likely to have symptoms of depression during and after pregnancy. Conversely, pregnant or postpartum women with symptoms of depression tended to have less social support .(Roth , 2004)

Supportive relationships may enhance feelings of well-being, personal control, and positive effect, thereby helping women to perceive pregnancy-related changes as less stressful. This may result in lowered rates of stress-induced biochemical responses and fewer stress-related health behaviours such as smoking and alcohol use .In addition, help with daily tasks such as household chores and child care can provide needed assistance with physically taxing demands that may be harmful to expectant mothers, especially late in pregnancy. (Collins et al., 1993)

Male involvement is generally described as men: a) accompanying their spouses; b) providing social-economic support; and c) using family planning as well as HIV prevention measures and the commonly cited approaches at community and service provision levels were men escorting spouses and couple orientated services, respectively. (Mukobi, 2013). A view proposed by a Ghanaian study defined men involvement in a variety of ways, as not just being physically present and involved in carrying out new born care tasks but also providing financial support. (Dumbaugh et al, 2014)

In different parts of the world, more especially in developed countries such as UK and Denmark, spousal participation is common practice during labour and delivery with about 95% attendance and Studies conducted in these developed countries shows that women who had continuous spousal labour support are reassured, comforted and emotionally encouraged to overcome pain associated with labour and delivery...(Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014). Furthermore, literature has shown that women with continuous support by spouses also experience shorter labours, reduced need for oxytocin, anaesthesia, analgesia, instrumental deliveries and decreased by 50% their chances of being admitted to a caesarean section. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014)

In Africa, particularly Nigeria, the volume of research literatures relating to spousal participation in labour and research findings as to how the practice ameliorates labour and delivery pain is very limited. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014)The traditional approaches to maternal health care taken by health systems in most developing countries portray the gendered belief system and the services are female oriented thereby discouraging male involvement (Kululanga, et al, 2012).

Pregnancy and child birth is usually referred to as purely a women's affair especially in Africa and men hardly accompany their women for ante-natal visits or to the delivery room for that matter. (Sokoya et al, 2014). Over the years the involvement of men in the maternal care of women has been very minimal as

maternal health was seen to be a fairly women's affair. (Adenike et al, 2014). There has also been the issue of male dominance in the upper echelons of power in the health sector leading to serious consequences in the health care delivery of maternal health services to women and girls. (Adenike et al 2014).

Studies continue to show that men in general in Africa have not been able to provide adequate care and support for their pregnant and nursing wives. (Sokoya, 2014). Despite all these, studies continue to support the argument that men involvement and support for pregnant women aids for much better outcomes of delivery. (Sokoya, 2014). Studies continue to show that to promote optimum health for child and mother involvement of male partner is paramount. (sokoya et al., 2014)

Male presence and support during pregnancy still continues to be poor which can be attributed to beliefs and traditional practices here in Nigeria. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014). The presence of males in the labour room and giving of spousal support in any manner possible has been seen as preferable to a lot of women as opposed to not having the spouses present. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014). Generally it is seen that women undergo a lot of pain and discomfort during the period of child birth and studies have continued to point in the direction of spousal support as being able to bring about better outcomes of pregnancy. (Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye, 2014).

Involving men is particularly challenging in countries whose culturally defined gender roles may hinder men's participation. For example, in countries where communication between couples is limited and manifestations of masculinity often involve violence against women and alcohol consumption, high-risk sexual behaviour is commonplace (walston, 2005). Several studies have also examined the role of men in influencing uptake of reproductive health services and these studies define male involvement in terms of men's roles as clients of health care services, as partners, or as agents of positive change. (Mangeni et al., 2013). Yet, there is no single widely used indicator for measuring male involvement. (Mangeni, 2013).

The data for a study done in Malawi study showed that men felt being pressurized to attend antenatal care with their wives purely for HIV counselling and testing and PMTCT counselling, interventions whose goal is to promote the health of the mother and child (Kululanga et al., 2012) The male expressed the feeling of being ignored by the health care providers because they were not allowed in the examination room even in facilities where privacy was guaranteed. As such, the men lingered outside the clinic waiting for their wives..(Kululanga et al., 2012). The males also felt in this study that ante-natal care was clearly a women's affair and that they were only invited for HIV test. .(Kululanga et al., 2012). Data from this study also indicted the health officials and professionals as they handled maternal care as purely a women's affair and the men felt they had no business being there. .(Kululanga et al., 2012).

In Kenya, a study conducted on male involvement in maternal health came to the conclusion that a male partner's participation, through attending ante natal clinic visits, is associated with a woman's use of an

skilled birth attendants during delivery and thereby reducing the risks associated with pregnancy. (Mangeni et al., 2013). A community study done in Atelowo community of Oshogbo in Nigeria showed that half of the respondents agreed that men should be involved in pre-conception care and also encourage family planning. (Olugbenga-Bello et al., 2014). This same study conducted in Oshogbo concluded by admitting that, the level of awareness of men about maternal health was high, but their involvement in giving care was poor and only about half of them had good attitude towards maternal health care. (Olugbenga –Bello et, al)

Findings of a study conducted at Babcock University school of nursing in Nigeria showed that all the participants agreed that their husbands' support during pregnancy, labour and delivery was necessary. (Sokoya et al., 2014). This same study in Babcock university showed that participants felt encouraged by their husbands support, and agreed that this support made pregnancy less stressful for them coupled with the fact that their husbands' provision of their needs gave them emotional security. (Sokoya et al., 2014). Participants understood that lack of husbands support during pregnancy, labour and delivery was dangerous. (Sokoya et al., 2014). This study also discovered that even though men are generally supportive of their pregnant wives, very few of them are directly involved in the maternity care of their wives, and only about a quarter of such men had ever accompanied their women on ante-natal visits. (Sokoya et al., 2014)

A study done in Enugu state, Nigeria argues that although enhancing clinical protocols and skills can be of benefit to women in Nigeria and elsewhere yet violence women experience throughout their lives – genital mutilation, domestic violence, and steep power gradients – is accentuated through pregnancy and childbirth, when women are most vulnerable (Anderson et al., 2011). Intimate partner violence especially in pregnancy and women's fear of husbands or partners and not discussing pregnancy with their men needs to change for better outcomes of pregnancy. (Anderson et al., 2011). A randomized control trial conducted at the university college hospital in Ibadan from 2008 to 2009 came to the conclusion that male involvement as a strategy can provide new policy direction with respect to reproductive issues and maternal health

(Ojengbede et al, 2009)

2.5 Husband's Involvement in Different Types of Care

Male partner participation is a crucial component to optimize antenatal care/prevention of mother to child transmission of HIV(ANC/PMTCT) service yet the participation of males in ANC and PMTCT is very low according to Haile and Brhan (2014) with levels of male involvement being as low as 20%. There are several strategies by which men may be involved in PMTCT. Healthcare workers should offer pregnant women all strategies available for involvement of males in their care for her to select the appropriate one according to Nyondo et al (2013). They went further in their study to state strategies to include (1) healthcare workers refusing service provision to women accessing antenatal clinic without

their partners, women refusing ANC attention in the absence of a partner, extending invitations and had six subcategories: (1) word of mouth, (2) card invites, (3) woman's health passport book invites, (4) telephonic invites, (5) use of influential people, and (6) home visits.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

3.1STUDY AREA

This study was conducted in Ibadan North Local Government Area (IBNLGA) of Oyo state. The local government is divided into 12 wards consisting of a population of 308,119 with 152,608 as males and 155,511 as females (NPC, 2007). This study was conducted at the post natal clinic of Adeoyo Hospital Yemetu Ibadan. Adeoyo Maternity Hospital, Yemetu, Ibadan is a secondary health center. Adeoyo Maternity Hospital was established in 1927 and has about 208 bed spaces. The hospital attends to pregnant women twice in a week on Tuesdays and Fridays. The hospital on the average attends to about 60 to 70 women per clinic day. The hospital has a single delivery room attached to an observation room. Men are not allowed into the delivery room. The hospital has two wards called lying –in wards. Women who have just been delivered are observed, both mother and child for 24 to 48 hours and if there is no problem they are discharged and allowed to go home. There is no day for postnatal clinic at the hospital, instead there are days for immunization and breastfeeding. These days are Mondays and Wednesdays when doctors and nurses attend to the post natal needs of women and their babies.

3.2 STUDY DESIGN

This study was a hospital based cross sectional survey. Structured questionnaire was used to gather data

3.3 STUDY POPULATION

This study was conducted among women attending post natal clinic at Adeoyo Maternity Hospital Yemetu Ibadan.

3.4INCLUSION CRITERIA

Women must have been attending post natal clinic

3.5SAMPLE SIZE DETERMINATION

The sample size was determined using the formula for calculating sample size of single proportion for descriptive studies.

Where,

n=Minimum desired sample size

Z₂= Standard normal deviate set at 1.96

d= Level of Precision at 0.05

p= Percentage of men who followed their wives to the delivery room is reported by Olugbenga – Bello et al, (2013) to be 27%

$$\frac{Z\alpha^{2}(pq)}{d^{2}} \qquad (Kasiulevičius et al, 2006)$$

$$n=1.96^{2} \times (0.27 \times 0.73) = 303$$

$$0.05 \times 0.05$$

This gave a sample size of 303 which is equivalent to n. To adjust for non response 10% was chosen as non-response rate and dividing 303 by this rate (0.9), minimum sample was 334

3.6. Sampling Technique

A systematic random sampling method was used to recruit subjects for the study. With a total number of about 60 clients expected per clinic day in Adeoyo Maternity Hospital. The number 2 was randomly selected, representing the first respondent as the 2nd client who walks in on the day of the data collection. Applying an interval of two, the second and fourth respondents from were sampled and then the process was continued until the required sample size (335) was obtained.

3.7DATA COLLECTION

Semi- structured questionnaire was used to gather data. The questionnaire was selfadministered but consideration was given to semi-literate and illiterate respondents.

Sections of the questionnaire included:

Section A- Socio-demographic section this section gathered information as concerns characteristics such as age, marital status, level of education, place of residence, religion etc.

Section B-Husband's level of involvement - this section covered respondents reported level of their husband's involvement in their care both at the stage of pregnancy and delivery and all the way down to the post Natal period

Section C- Social support, perception and Barriers to male Involvement- this section was to determine what women consider to be social support. It asked questions of what women expect or desired as their husband's level of social support and what is the current reported level of their husband's involvement in their care. It also elicited information on possible barriers to male involvement in maternal health of their women during pregnancy and child birth.

A pre-test was carried out at a maternity health centre in Eleyele Area of Ibadan Oyo state and adjustment was made to the questionnaire in line with responses.

DEPENDENT VARIABLE

Husband's level of involvement in maternal care of wife was either high or low. A composite score was used to determine if the involvement of the husband was high or low.

For husbands involvement in Pregnancy scores were given to the responses to the variables in the questionnaire. A composite score was then computed using the variables under husband's involvement in pregnancy. The variables included: positive response to news, Encouraging the wife to go for Antenatal, Accompanying the wife to ANC, Kind words, Helping out in House chores, buying of gifts, Giving

massages, Paying Hospital bills. The mean value was computed for these variables and used as the midpoint. Values falling below the mean were considered to be of "Low involvement" while values above the mean were for "High involvement"

For husband's involvement in labour the same method as above was used and a composite score was adopted. The difference here were the variables with which the scare was computed which were Husband's presence during labour, Husband's presence in delivery room, Husband running errands for wife during labour, payment of hospital bills.

For husband's involvement in post natal care variables used for the composite score include: Accompany wife for post natal clinic, Discussing family planning, Encouraging breastfeeding, Helping to soothe the baby, Paying any bills incurred at this period for mother and child, Changing of diapers. Bathing of the child

INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

Socio demographic variables - these included age of respondents, age of husbands, religion of respondents, marital status of respondents, Occupation of respondents, Ethnicity of spouses, occupation of husbands, Family setting i.e. Monogamy or polygamy, Average family income, Number of wives in polygamous setting, Position of wife in polygamous setting

Obstetric Variables

Number of previous pregnancies, number of living children, number of babies in scan result, if respondent was admitted or not, was there any complication during labour or not

3.8 DATA MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS

The data was analysed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 16. Analysis carried out on the data set included descriptive analysis to determine mean, median, frequencies and proportions. Chi-square was used to test for statistical significant associations between categorical variables and the level of involvement of Husband in maternal significance was set at 0.05. Test of association between the dependent and independent categorical variables was carried out by Chi-square test.

3.9. Ethical considerations

3.9.1. Ethical Approval

The study protocol was reviewed and approval for the study was obtained from Oyo State Research Ethical Review Committee, Ministry of Health, Secretariat, Ibadan.

3.9.2. Informed Consent

The purpose of the study was explained to the respondents and written informed consent obtained from the study participants using an informed consent form prior to commencement of the interviews.

3.9.3. Confidentiality

Serial numbers and not names were used on questionnaires containing information collected in order to ensure participants' privacy and only the researchers knew the identification numbers. The data was not discussed with anyone outside the research team.

CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS

CHARACTERISTICS OF RESPONDENTS

A total of 335 respondents were documented and analysed with age of the women ranging from 19 to 45 years. The result section will be divided mainly into three categories. The first is the socio demographic status and distribution of the respondents as well as their husbands, the second category will be results on the involvement of husbands both in the antenatal, delivery and post natal stage for which a composite score was used to differentiate husband's involvement into "High involvement and Low involvement". Scores for involvement were computed with a median being used to determine values falling on either side of the divide to either be high involvement or low involvement. The third category will include results on the perception and preference of women with regards to their husband's involvement in their care as well as the barriers to the involvement of husbands in the care of their wives with respect to associated positive outcomes of delivery.

Distribution of Respondents by Socio demographic Characteristics

A total of 335 respondents were analysed with their minimum age being 19years and maximum age of was 45 years old. The mean age for the respondents was 30.7 ± 5.4 years. Data on age was available for 329 of the husbands of our respondents. Of this number we have 24 years to be the minimum age for husbands and 57 as the maximum age with a total mean age to be 37.4± 6.5 years. More than half of the respondents attended a tertiary institution 178 (53.5%), while about 141 respondents which represents 42.3% attended just secondary school. The remaining 14% which amounts to just about 14 persons attended just primary school (Table 4.1). Yoruba ethnic group constitutes about two-thirds of the respondents of this study 216 (64.5%), with the Igbo ethnic group making up about one-third (27.1%) of the respondents in this study clausas and other ethnic groups in Nigeria make up about one in twenty (6.6%) of the respondents.

Almost all our respondents were married 326 (97.6%) and 9 in every 10 of our respondents was living with their husband during the period of pregnancy 306 (91.3%). About two – thirds of our respondents 194 (58.3%) are traders, while close to one quarter are civil servants 74 (22.2%). One in ten of all our respondents are artisans or self-employed 35 (10.5%). About one half of our respondents 190 (56.9%) earned a family income of about N10,001 to N 50,000. One quarter of our respondents earned between N50, 001 and N100,000 as monthly income 96 (28.7%). Nine out of ten of our respondents 306 (91.6%) were in monogamous relationships and family setting, while one out of ten 28 (8.4%) were in polygamous homes and relationships. 64% of our respondents were adherents to the Christian faith while 34% were Muslims. 64% of the husbands of our respondents attended tertiary institution with 40% of them being traders.

Table 4.1: Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Respondents

n=335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)	
Age distribution			
Of the respondents			
18-24 yrs	31	9.2	
25-29 yrs	107	31.9	
30-34 yrs	111	33.1	
35 yrs and above	86	25.7	
Level of Education			
Primary school	14	4.2	
Secondary school	141	42.1	
Tertiary Institution	178	53.1	
Missing	2	0.2	
Ethnicity			
Yoruba	216	64.5	
Igbo	92	27.5	
Hausa	5	1.5	
Others	22	6.6	
Marital Status of Respondents			
Single	4	1.2	
Married	326	97.3	
Separated	4	1.2	
Missing		0.3	
Respondent living with			
Their Husbands			
Yes	306	91.3	
No	28	8.4	
Missing	1	0.3	
Living with Husband during			
Pregnancy?			
Yes	318	94.9	
No	16	4.8	
Missing	1	0.3	
Average Family Income			
IN- 10,000N	30	9.0	
10,001N-50,000N	190	56.7	
50.001N- 100,000N	96	28.7	
100,00 1 and above	18	5.4	
IVV.VV I allu above			

Table 4.1: Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Respondents n=335 (Cont.)

VARIABLE	Number	(%)
Religion of Respondent		
Christianity	215	64.2
Íslam	114	34.0
Others	6	1.8
Husband's Level of Education Atta	ined	
Primary school	8	2.4
Secondary School	110	32.8
Tertiary Institution	213	63.6
Missing	4	1.2
llusband works		
n the same town where		
You live		
Yes	279	83.3
No	42	12.5
Missing	14	4.2
Family Setting of Respondent		
Monogamy	306	91.3
Polygamy	28	8.4
Missing		0.3

4.2 Obstetric History of Respondents

The results of our study show that 32 % of our respondents have had one previous pregnancy while 39% have had two other pregnancies. Also, within this study 41 % of our respondents have had over two living children while 38% had just one living child, and 19 % of our respondents have had three living children.

Table 4.2 Obstetric History of Respondents

VARIABLE	Number	(°/o)
n=335		
Previous Pregnancy of		
Respondents		
One	108	32.2
Гwо	133	39.7
Three	59	17.6
Four and above	34	10.1
Missing	1	0.3
Number of living children		
Of Respondent		
One	127	37.9
Гwо	139	41.5
Three	63	18.8
Four and above	4	1.2
Missing	2	0.6
Number of ANC		
Attended		
One	11	3.3
Two	23	6.9
'hree	63	18.8
Four and above	237	70.7
Missing	II .	0.3
lace of		
elivery'		
at home	19	5.7
ne the way to hospital	10	3.0
at a health center	18	5.4
a a maternity center	18	5.4
t the hospital	268	80.0
lissing	2	0.6
ny complication		
uring pregnancy		
es	38	11.4
	291	86.9
issing	6	1.8
ou admitted during		
regnancy		
es	52	15.5
0	270	80.6

4.3 Husband's involvement in Antenatal care

This study showed that 90% of the husbands of our respondents reacted positively to the news of their wives being pregnant with child while just about 5% were either not happy or their wives were not sure of their feelings. About 86% of the husbands of our respondents encouraged their wives to go and book for ante natal are after they had confirmed that they were pregnant, while just about 7.8% did not encourage their wives to book for ANC. Only 37% of our respondents ever accompanied their wives to ante natal clinic while over half of the men 56% never attended ante natal clinic even for once with their wives. About 78% of the women did not experience physical violence and intimidation during pregnancy while 17% complained that they had experienced violence during period of pregnancy. We had 4 in every 5 of the men amounting to about 81% said kind word to their wives especially when they were tired and 83% involved themselves in house chores during the period of pregnancy.

We had 3out of every 4 men totalling about 75% buying gifts for their wives during pregnancy on their way home from work while 78% of our men gave massages to their wives to ease back pain during pregnancy and 91% of the men supported their wives financially by paying their bills during pregnancy. Over two thirds of our respondents 71.2% attended ANC more than 4 times while just over half of the men 51.2% attended antenatal clinic with their wives just once. Just 14.4% of our men attended ANC four times and above. 85% of our respondent had their husbands living in the same town with them during the course of pregnancy while just 15% lived outside the town when their wives were pregnant. For husbands who attended ANC with their wives two thirds of them 67% attended ANC during the first trimester with 32% attending during the second trimester and just 1% coming in the third trimester. 55% of the husbands followed their wives for ultrasound scan while 45% of the husbands did not accompany their wives for ultrasound scan.

Table 4.3 Husband's involvement in Antenatal care

n = 335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)	
Husband responded			
Positively to news of			
Ргедпалсу			
Yes	303	90.4	
No	15	4.5	
Not sure	16	4.8	
Missing	1	0.3	
Husband encouraged			
You to book for antenatal			
Yes	286	85.4	
No	26	7.8	
Not sure	21	6.3	
Missing	2	0.6	
Husband Accompanied			
You for Antenatal clinic			
Yes	122	36.4	
No	187	55.8	
Not Sure	25	7.5	
Missing		0.3	
You experienced physical			
Violence during pregnancy			
Yes	55	16.4	
No	260	77.6	
Not sure	18	5.4	
Missing	2	0.6	
Husband said			
Kind words to you when			
You were tired			
Yes	268	80.0	
NO	56	16.7	
Not sure	9	2.7	
Missing	2	0.6	
Husband did			
House chores during			
Your pregnancy			
Yes	279	83.3	
No	39	11.6	
Not sure	16	4.8	

Table 4.3 Husband's involvement in Antenatal care (Cont.)

n = 335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)
Husband		
Bought you gifts and presents		
During pregnancy		
Yes	249	74.3
No	63	18.8
Not sure	22	6.6
Missing	1	0.3
Ilushand gave		
You massages during pregnance	y .	
Yes	260	77.6
No	57	17.0
Not sure	16	4.8
Missing	2	0.6
Hushand met		
Your financial needs		
During pregnancy		
Yes	303	90.4
No	11	3.3
Not sure	19	5.7
Missing	2	0.6
How many antenatal		
Visits did your		
Husband attend		
None	171	51.0
Once	39	11.6
Twice	50	14.9
Three	26	7.8
Four and above	48	14.3
Missing	1	0.3
l'iming		
Of your husband's		
Antenatal visit		
1 * Trimester	131	39_1
2 nd Trimester	30	9.0
3rd Trimester	2	0.6
Missing	139	41.5

4.4 Husband's involvement During Labour and Delivery

This study showed that 80.5% of our women delivery in the hospital with the lowest percentage of 3% delivering on the way to hospital while 63% of our husbands were around during the onset of Labour with just 24% of the men not being around when their wives went into labour.3 out of every 4 of our respondents and 76.1% agreed that the hospitals did not allow men into the delivery rooms.

A high percentage of about 61% of the husbands of our respondents went on errands for their wives during the period of delivery while 24% did not. 281 (85%) supported their wives financially by paying their hospital bills. 291 (88%) of our respondents had no complication during pregnancy while 38 people which totals 11% had one complication or the other during labour and delivery 16% of our respondents were admitted during the course of pregnancy while above 80% were not admitted for any reason during the course of pregnancy.

We had 7 in 10 of our respondents totaling about 71% that felt their husband's support was either good or excellent during Labour and Delivery while about 9% felt their Husband's support was either poor or very poor during the period of Delivery and Labour.

Table 4.4: Husband's involvement During Labour and Delivery

n = 335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)
Was your husband		
Around during the		
Onset of labour?		
Yes	212	63.3
No	81	24.2
Not sure	2	0.6
Missing	40	12.0
Did the hospital allow		
The presence of your		
Husband in the delivery room?		
Yes	58	17.3
No	255	76.1
Not sure	19	5.7
Missing	2	0.9
Was your husband present		
In the delivery room		
During delivery?		
Yes	77	23.0
No	239	71.3
Not sure	18	5.4
Missing		0.3
Your husband supported		
You financially by paying		
llospital bills during pregnancy		
And labor		
Yes	281	84.6
No	40	11.9
Not sure	11	3.3
Missing	3	0.9
Rate your		
Busband's support during		
Labor and delivery		
Very Poor	12	3.6
7000	19	5.7
Good	63	18.8
Very Good	87	26.0
Excellent	151	45.1
Missing	3	0.9

4.5 Husband's involvement During Post Natal Period as well as Baby care

Over half of our respondents 55% said their husbands did not accompany them for postnatal clinic while 119 (35.8) reported their husbands to have accompanied them for post natal. 55% of our respondents which totals 182 women reported that their husbands did not discuss family planning uptake with them while 139 (42%) of the women had discussions with their husbands about family planning. Within this study, 210 (63%) women agreed that their husbands encouraged them to breast feed the infant while 94 women (28%) reported their husbands did not encourage them to breastfeed.62% of the husbands woke up at night to soothe the baby when he/she was crying at night while 34% of the husbands did not wake to soothe the baby at night.

From all our respondents, 282 respondents which amounts to 78% provided financially for their wives during post natal period while 38 (11%) reported their husbands as not providing for their care and upkeep after the birth of the child.60% of our men did learn to change diapers for newborns but just 50% of the husband of respondents did actually change diapers for the new child. About 173 (51%) of the women reported their husbands to have assisted in bathing the child while 145 (45%) did not assist their wives in bathing the new child. 3 out of every 4 (75%) of our women also admitted to receiving help and support from relatives and friends during the period of pregnancy and post-partum.

We had 68% of our respondents which felt the support their husband provided during post natal period was either excellent or very good while 21% felt that their husband provided good support for them during the period. Conversely just about 10% of the women felt the support of their husband was either poor or very poor during the post natal period.

Table 4.5: Table that shows Husband's involvement During Post Natal Period as well as Baby care

n=335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)	
Did your husband accompany			_
You for Post natal visits?			
Yes	119	35.5	
No	184	54.9	
Not sure	29	8.7	
Missing	3	0.9	
Husband discussed			
Family planning uptake			
With you			
Yes	139	41.5	
No	182	54.3	
Not sure	[2	3.6	
Missing	2	0.6	
Hushand encouraged			
You to breastfeed the baby			
Yes	210	62.7	
No	94	28.1	
Notsure	29	8.7	
Missing	2	0.6	
Husband woke			
At night to soothe the baby			
Yes	208	62.3	
No	113	33.8	
Not sure	13	3.9	
Missing	1	0.3	
Husband provided for			
Financial need post natal			
period			
Yes	262	78.2	
No	38	11.3	
Vot sure	34	10.1	
dissing	1	0.3	
Did your husband learn			
o change diapers			
es	201	60.2	
lo	123	36.8	
lot sure	10	3.0	

Table 4.5: Table that shows Husband's involvement During Post Natal Period as well as Baby care (
Cont.)
n=335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)	
Your husband changed			
diapers for the new born			
Yes	167	49.9	
No	145	43.3	
Not sure	22	6.6	
Missing		0.3	
Your husband assisted		0.5	
In bathing the child			
Yes	173	51.6	
No	145	43.3	
Not sure	16	4.8	
Missing	1	0.3	
Your husband helped in			
Swabbing the umbilical cord			
Yes	124	37.0	
No	185	55.2	
Not sure	25	7.5	
Missing	1	0.3	
ou got social support			
rom friends and relatives			
l'es	236	70.4	
lo	53	15.8	
lotsure	23	6.9	
Aussing	23	6.9	
late your			
usband's support during			
ost natal period			
ery poor	11	3.3	
oor	23	6.9	
ood	70	20.9	
ery Good	87	26.0	
cellent	143	42.7	

4.6 Women's perception and preserence to husband's Involvement in Maternal Care

For our respondents60 % strongly agreed that Husband's support was necessary during pregnancy, Labour and post natal care, while 29% agreed that this support was needed. This means 89% of our respondents felt a need for the support of their husbands during the period spanning from pregnancy to post-partum with just 3.6% of our women feeling no need for the support of their husbands during this period.

From our results 87% of the women agreed that men had a role to play in family planning just as about 9% did not think it necessary for men to be involved in decisions about family planning. 4 out of every 5 women totalling about 83% wanted their husbands to be present in the delivery room while they were giving birth or going into Labour while about 9% were not in support of husbands being in the delivery room.

The study showed that 7 in every 10 women within this study (70%) felt that a paternity leave will improve the involvement of Husbands in the care of their wives while 1 in every 4 women (25%) did not feel that men needed a paternity leave in other to involve themselves more in the care of their wives. Well over half of our respondent 54% felt that between 1 to 30 days was sufficient for a paternity leave for men who were expecting their wives to deliver a child while 21% felt 31-60 days was better for the leave with the rest opting for 61 to 90 days

In every 5 women 4 of the women totalling about 81% felt that their husband's support during pregnancy brought them emotional support while 3% did not feel any emotional support from their husband's care. Within this study 45% of our respondents 'preferred theirs mothers to give them social support during pregnancy and child birth, while 38% wanted their husband to give them support. 3 in every 5 women amounting to about 61% agreed or strongly agreed that ridicule from other men could affect the level of involvement of their husbands in their care while 20% did not feel that their husbands should be bothered about being ridiculed by friends for caring for their wives during pregnancy and childbirth.

Table 4.6: Women's perception to husband's Involvement in Maternal Care

	Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree(%)	Strongly	Total
	Disagree(%)	(%)	(%)		Agree(%)	
Is husband's support		12(3.6)	22(6.6)	96(28.7)	205(61.1)	335(100)
necessary during						
pregnancy, labor and						
delivery						
Do men have a role to	4(1.2)	26(7.8)	12(3.6)	115(34.4)	117(53.0)	335(100)
play in family planning?						
Should husband be	1 (0.3)	29(8.7)	23(6.9)	163(48.8)	118(35.8)	335(100)
present during delivery						
and Labour?						
Would a paternity leave	13(3.9)	71(21.3)	14(4.2)	151(45-2)	85(25.4)	335(100)
improve Husband's						
involvement in maternal						
care?						
				10/12# 5	100462.0)	227/400
Husband's provision gives		10(3.0)	18(5.4)	126(37.7	180(53.9)	335(100)
Emotional support						
				101/210	100/20 4	225/400
Fear of ridicule from	1 (0.3)	69(20.6)	58(17.3)	104 (31.0)	102(30.4)	335(100)
friend discourage your						
busband from being						
involved in your care						

Table 4.7: Women's preference to husband's Involvement in Maternal Care

VARIABLE	Number	(%)
You felt encouraged		
By your husband's support		
During pregnancy, Labor		
And post natal care?		
Yes	273	81.5
No	27	8.1
Not sure	14	4.2
Missing	21	6.3
Days Suitable for a paternity leav	'e	
1-30 Days	181	54.0
31 -60 Days	69	20.6
61 - 90 Days	59	17.6
Missing	26	7.8
Who do prefer to provide social		
Support during pregnancy?		
Relatives	10	3.0
Mother-in-law	22	6.6
Mother	150	44.8
Husband	126	37.6
Others	25	7,5
Missing	2	0.6

4.7 Possible Barriers to Male involvement in maternal health

A large percentage of about 81.3% of our respondents felt that their husband wanted to be involved in their care and just 12% felt their husband were not bothered about being involved in their care. 56 % of the women did not feel that religion encouraged their men to be involved in their care. Respondents felt that health care providers encouraged male participation in maternal care, with about 65% affirming that health care providers did encourage male participation in maternal care.

Men are traditionally not allowed into delivery rooms in Nigeria. 65% of our respondents agreed that men should not be allowed into the delivery room. There was no clear consensus on if culture was a barrier to male involvement with 46.4% agreeing that their culture discouraged male participation in maternal health and 40.7% did say that culture did not discourage male participation.

Table 4.8: Barriers to Husband's involvement in maternal health

n=335

VARIABLE	Number	(%)	
Does your Husband feel			_
A need to be involved in ye	our		
Care? Yes	270	90.6	
No	40	80.6	
Not sure	22		
Missing	3	0.9	
Does your religion encour		0.9	
Male participation in mate			
Yes	95	28.4	
No	184	54.9	
Not sure	52	15.5	
Missing	4	1.2	
Health care providers enco	ourage		
Male participation in mate	ernal		
Care			
Yes	219	65.4	
No	86	25.9	
Not sure	27	8.1	
Missing	3	0.9	
Men allowed into the			
Delivery room in the health			
Facility you used			
Yes	86	25.7	
No	217	64.8	
Not sure	29	8.7	
Missing	3	0.9	
Culture discourages male Participation in maternal Health			
Yes	155	46.3	
No	136	40.6	
Not sure	43	12.8	

4.8 Association between Husband's involvement in Pregnancy and Socio demographic factors

Respondents with primary school level of education had low involvement of their husbands care for their wives to be 77%. Respondents who attended secondary school totalling 78 (56%) had high involvement of their husbands in their care. For respondents who attended tertiary institution they had a marginally higher high husband involvement of 59% than those that went to just Secondary school. Men who were living with their wives had a higher involvement of their husbands of 58% than men not living with their wives who had a high involvement of 32% in the care of their wives.

In homes making an average income of 1N-10,000N there was an almost even percentage of involvement of the husband of their husband during pregnancy. Low involvement of husbands accounted for 52% of our men while 48% had higher involvement in their wives care. For homes were N10,001- N50,000 was being made on a monthly basis 61% of the husbands had high involvement in their wives care while 39% had low involvement. All the 18 respondents who indicated an monthly income of N100,001 and above had high involvement in their wives care.

There were 133 (63%) who indicated that they were of the Christian faith and had high husband involvement in their care while 45% who were Muslim faithful had High husband involvement in their care. Among husbands of respondents who attended secondary school, about 64(59%) had high involvement in their wives care while 120(57%) of those who attended tertiary institution had high involvement in their wives care. Women with one previous pregnancy had high involvement of 51% of their husbands in their care, while those with three previous pregnancies had 68% of their husbands highly involved in their care. For women with four and above previous pregnancies just about 1 in 4 (25%) of their husbands were highly involved in their care during the period of pregnancy.

Respondents which were below 30 years of age had about 58% of their husbands being highly involved in their care while 90 (62%) of women between 30 and 35 years had high involvement of their husbands in their care. Women who were older than 35 years of age had 68% of their husbands having low involvement in their care during the period of pregnancy. For husbands which were less than 30 years 66% of them had high involvement in their wives care while men between the ages of 30 to 39 years had 62% of the men being highly involved in their wives care during pregnancy. For men greater than 40 years 56 (59%) of them had low involvement in the care of their wives during pregnancy.

Table 4.9Association between Husband's involvement in Pregnancy and Socio demographic factors

Husband's	Low Involvement	High Involvemen	nt	
Involvement in	N(%)	N (%)	X ²	P- Value
Pregnancy				
Age of Respondent				
Less than 30 years of	57 (41.6)	80 (58.4)	13.28	0.001
age			13.20	0.001
30 to 35 years	56 (38.4)	90 (61.6)		
Greater than 35 years	32 (68.1)	15 (31.9)		
Age of Husband of				
Respondent				
Less than 30 years	13 (34.2)	25 (65.8)	12.69	0.002
30 to 39 Years	73 (38.2)	118 (61.8)		
Greater than 40 years	56 (58.9)	39 (41.1)		
Two	47(34.3)	90(65.7)		
Three and above	34 (50.7)	33 (49.3)		
Level Of Education				
Of Respondent				
Primary School	10(76.9)	3(23.1)	6.31	0.04
Secondary School	62(44.3)	78(55.7)		
Tertiary Institution	72(41.1)	103(58.9)		
Ethnicity of				
Respondent				
Yoruba	95(44.6)	118(55.4)	4.91	0.18
Others	50(42.7)	67(57.3)		
Are you currently				
living with your				
partner/llusband				
No	19(67.9)	9(32.1)	7.02	0.01
Yes	126(41.9)	175(58.1)		
Does your Husband				
Vork in the Same				
Town where you Live				
No	26(61.9)	16 (38.1)	6.89	0.0 }
'es	111(40.4)	164 (59.6)		
Sumber of Previous				
regnancies				
ne	52 (49.1)	54 (50.9)	16.00	0.001
(VO	50 (38.2)	81 (61.8)		
Three	19 (32.2)	40 (678)		

Table 4.9 Association Between Husband's involvement in Pregnancy and Socio demographic

factors (Cont.)

Husband's	Low Involvement	High Involvement		
Involvement in	N(%)	N (%)	X^2	P- Value
Pregnancy				
Were you living with				
your partner during				
pregnancy?				
No	10(62.5)	6(37.5)	2.40	0.12
Yes	134(42.8)	179(57.2)		
Family Setting of				
Respondent				
Monogamy	132 (43.7)	170 (56.3)	0.08	0.78
Polygamy	13 (46.4)	15 (53.6)		
Polygamy	13 (46.4)	15 (53.6)		
Average Family				
income		14(40.2)	22.44	
IN - 10.000N	15 (51.7)	14(48.3)	27.44	< 0.001
10,001N-50,000N	73(38.8)	115 (61.2)		
50,001N- 100,000N	57(60.6)	37(39.4)		
100,001N and above	0(0.0)	18(100)		
Religion of				
Respondent				
		122 / (2.0)	12.42	0.001
Christianity	78 (37.0)	133 (63.0)	13.42	0.001
Islam	62 (54.9)	51 (45.1)		
Husband's Level of				
Education Attained				
	0 (100)	0(0.0)	10.76	0.01
Primary School	8(100)			
		(4.4.60.3)		
Secondary School	44 (40.7)	64 (59.3)		
Certiary Institution	90 (42.9)	120(57.1)		

4.9: Association Between Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic factors

Respondents living with partner had 225(72%) of their husbands highly involved in their care while 75% of the respondents not living with their husbands had low involvement of their husbands in their care during the period of labour. 25% of our husbands who went to primary school were highly involved in their wives care during labour while 74(69%) of our husbands who attended just secondary school were highly involved in their wives care. For husbands who went to tertiary institution of any kind, 150 (71%) of them had high involvement in the care of their wives during the period of labour.

For respondents who had one previous pregnancy 71 (66%) had high involvement of their husband in their care during labour, while for those with two previous pregnancies 93(71%) had high involvement of their husbands in their care during labour. Women who had previous pregnancies of three and above had 84% of husbands being highly involved in their care. Women who had one living child and whose husbands were highly involved in their care during labour were about 83(65.4%). About 105 (77%) who had two children had high involvement of their husband in their care, while 39 (63%) of women with three children had their husbands highly involved in their care during labour.

Husbands number of antenatal visits seem to affect their involvement in labour with husbands attending one having 66% high involvement in their wives care during labour and those attending twice have 75% high husband involvement in their care. For husbands who came to ANC three times, 19(76%) of them were highly involved in their wives care during labour while 88% of the men who ventured to attend ANC up to 4 time and above had high involvement in their wives care during labour and childbirth.

Women who their husband worked in the town where they lived had about 72% of their husbands highly involved in their care during labour while just about 21(53%) of men who worked in different towns from where their wives live could attain such high level of involvement in their wives care during labour. Women who were currently living with their husbands had high husband involvement of 72% in their care during labour while those who did not live with their husbands had about 56% of their husbands having low involvement in their care during delivery and childbirth.

The younger a husband was the more involved he seemed to be in his wife's care during labour as 80% of men less than 30 years old had high involvement in their wives care with 76% of those men between 30 and 39 years also provided high involvement in their wives care during delivery. Just about 53% of men greater than 39 years of age offered high involvement in the care of their wives during the period of Labour. For women less than 30 years 88(65%) of them reported high involvement of their husbands in their care while 115(79%) of women between 30 and 35 years of age reported such high level of involvement of their husbands in their care during the period of Labour. Women greater than 35 years of age indicated that just about 55% of them had high involvement of their husbands in their care during the period of Labour.

Table 4.10: Association between Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic factors

Husband's	Low involvement	High	X ²	D. Vates
involvement in	n(%)		A	P- Value
Lahour		involvement		
		N(%)		
Level of Education	of			
Respondent				
Primary School	2 (14.3)	12(85.7)	2.25	
Secondary school	47 (33.6)	93 (66.4)	2.37	0.31
Tertiary Institution	52 (29.9)	122(70.1)		
Ethnicity and		122(70.1)		
Husband's				
Involvement During				
Labour				
Yoruba	67(31.5)	146 (68.5)	12.51	0.006
lgbo	19(21.1)	71 (78.9)		0.000
Hausa	2 (40)	3 (60)		
Others	13 (59.1)	9 (40.9)		
Marital status	of			
Respondents				
Single	! (25)	3 (75)	3.85	0.15
Married	96 (29.9)	225 (70.1)		
Separated	100 (30.4)	229 (69.6)		
Living with Partner				
during Pregnancy				
No	12 (75)	4 (25)	15.82	< 0.001
Yes	88 (28.1)	225 (71.9)		
amily Setting of				
Respondent				
fonogamy -	94 (31.2)	207 (68.8)	0.47	0.33
olyganiy	7 (25)	21 (75)		
verage Family				
соте				
-10.000N	9 (30)	21 (70)	6.34	0.100
0.001N-50.000N	67 (35.8)	120 (64.2)		
0,001-100,000N	22(23.4)	72 (76.6)		
00,00 IN and above	3 (16.7)	15 (83.3)		

Table 4.10: Association between Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic factors (Cont.)

Husband's	Low involvement	High	X ²	P- Value
involvement in	n(%)	involvement		
Lahour		N(%)		
Previous Pregnancies				
of Respondents				
Опе	37 (34.3)	71 (65.7)	12.75	0.005
Two	38 (29.0)	93(71.0)	12./3	0.005
Three	9(15.8)	48(84.2)		
Four and above	17 (15.0)	17(50.0)		
Number of Living				
Children of				
Respondents				
One	44(34.6)	83 (65.4)	9.81	0.02
Two	31(22.8)	105 (77.2)		
Three	23 (37.1)	39 (62.9)		
Four and above	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)		
Husband's Number				
of Antenatal Visits				
Once	13(33.3)	26(66.7)	13.12	0.01
Twice	12 (24.5)	37 (75,5)		
Three times	6 (24.0)	19 (76.0)		
Four and Above	6 (12.5)	42 (87.5)		
Age of Respondent				
Less than 30 years	48 (35.3)	88(64.7)	12.69	0.002
30 to 35 years	31 (212)	115(788)		
Greater than 35 years	22(45.8)	26(546)		
Husband work in the				
same town where you				
ive				
Vo	19 (47.5)	21(525)	5.97	0.02
res	79 (28.4)	199 (71.6)		
Religion of				
lespondent				
hristianity	55 (26.1)	156 (73.9)	10.12	0.006
lam	46 (40.7)	67(59.3)		
lusband's Level of				
ducation Attained				
rumary School	6 (75.0)	2 (25)	7.70	0.02
econdary School	33 (30 8)	74(69.2)		
	61(28.9)	[50(7[])		
mstitution		AFRICAN DIGITAL HEALTH REPOSI	TORY PROJECT	

Table 4.10: Association between Husband's Involvement in Labour and Socio demographic factors (Cont.)

Husband's involvement in Labour	Low involvement n(%)	High involvement N(%)	X^2	P- Value
Are you living with				
your Partner/				
Husband				
No	15 (55.6)	12 (44.4)	8.54	0.003
Yes	86 (28.5)	216 (71.5)		0.003
Age of Husband				
Less than 30 years	8 (20.5)	31(79.5)	17.41	< 0.001
30 to 39 years	46 (24.1)	145(75.9)		
Greater than 39 years	44(46.8)	50(53.2)		

4.10 Association between Husband's Involvement during post natal care and Socio demographic

Respondents of the Yoruba ethnic groups have 46% high involvement of their husbands in post natal care of their wives while the Igbo ethnic group reported a percentage of 73 for high involvement of husband in post natal care of their wives. For women living with their husbands 57% of then reported a high involvement of their husbands in their care while just about 18% of those not living with their husbands could provide the same high level of involvement of their husbands in post natal care.

Family setting of respondents showed that women in monogamous relationships which were about 171(56%) reported high involvement of their husbands in their care during post natal period while those in polygamous homes and relationships had just 21% of high involvement of their husbands in their care during the period of post natal care. For men who had attended secondary school just about half of them 52% offered high level of involvement in the care of their wives during post natal period. Among men who attended tertiary institution, 119 (57%) of them were highly involved in the care of their wives during the post natal period.

Women who had one previous pregnancy reported 40% of their husbands offered high involvement in their care during post natal period. About 84(63%) of women who had two previous pregnancies had their husbands highly involved in their care during the post natal period. Respondent with four and above previous pregnancies had 58% involvement of their husbands to be high during the post natal period.

Table 4.11: Association between Husband's Involvement during post natal care and Socio demographic factors

Husband's	Low involvement	High	X ²	D. Wales
involvement in	n(%)	involvement		P- Value
Labour				
Age of Respondent		D(%)		
Less than 30 years	15 (38.5)			
30 to 39 years	90 (47.1)	24 (61.5)	1.27	0.53
Greater than 40 years		101 (52.9)		
Level of Education of	,	49 (51.0)		
Respondent				
Primary school	4 (30.8)	9 (69.2)	1.20	0.50
Secondary School	67 (47.5)	74 (52.5)	1.38	0.50
Tertiary Institution	83 (47.2)	93 (52.8)		
Ethnicity				
Yoruba	115 (53.7)	99 (46.3)	18.68	< 0.001
lgbo	25 (27.5)	66 (72.5)		4 0.001
Hausa	3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)		
Others	12 (54.5)	10 (45 5)		
Marital Status				
Single	2 (50.0)	2 (50.0)	1.31	0.52
Married	150 (46.4)	173 (53.6)		
Separated	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)		
Are you Currently				
Living with Your				
Husband				
Yes	131 (43.2)	172 (56.8)		
No	23(82-1)	5 (17.9)	15 60	< 0.00 1
Were you living with				
your partner during				
Pregnancy?				
Yes	143 (45.4)	172 (54.6)		
No	11 (68.8)	5 (31.3)	3.34	0.07
Average Family				
Income				
IN - 10,000N	13 (43.3)	17 (56.7)	1.54	0.67
10,001 - 50,000N	90 (47.6)	99 (52.4)		
50,001N -100,000N	45 (47.9)	49 (52.1)		
100,001N and above	6 (33.3)	12 (66.7)		

Table 4.11: Association between Husband's Involvement during post natal care and Socio demographic factors (Cont.)

involvement in Labour	Low involvement n(%)	High involvement n(%)	X ²	P- Value
Family Setting of				
Respondent				
Monogamy	132 (43.6)	171 (56.4)	12.42	
Polygamy	22 (78.6)	6 (21.4)	12.63	< 0.001
Religion of				
Respondent				
Christianity	89 (42.0)	123 (58.0)	6.20	0.07
Islam	63 (55.3)	51 (44.7)	5.28	0.07
Others	3 (50.0)	3 (50.0)		
Husband's Level of				
Education Attained				
Primary School	7 (87.5)	1 (12.5)	6.36	0.04
Secondary School	53 (48.2)	57 (51.8)	5.50	0,04
Tertiary Institution	91 (43.3)	119 (567)		
Does your husband				
live and work in the				
same town where you				
live?				
No	24 (57.1)	18 (42 9)	1.866	0.172
Yes	127 (45.8)	150 (542)		
Number of living				
hildren				
One	69 (54.8)	57 (45.2)	5.715	0.057
Two .	59 (42 4)	80 (57.6)		
Three and above	26 (39.4)	40 (60.6)		

4.11 Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during pregnancy

The results presented in Table 4.13 below, shows that occupation, religion, age of husband of respondent are predictors for involvement of husbands in the maternal care of their wives during the period of pregnancy. The table shows that respondents of the Islamic faith are 4 times less likely to significantly want their husbands to be involved in their maternal care than respondents which are of the Christian faith. (95%C1=0.130-0.563,p<0.001) while, respondents who were from other faiths which were not Christian or Muslim were statistically 17 times less likely to want their husband to be involved in their care as compared with their fellow respondents which were of the Christian faith. (95%C1=0.005-0.85, p=0.038).

The table shows that respondents who their husbands were 40 years and above were six times significantly less likely to want their husbands involved in their care than respondents who their husbands were less than 30 years (95%C1=0.053-0.596, P=0.005).

Table 4.12: Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during

	OR	95% C.1		
VARIABLE		23 76 C.1		P-Value
		Lawas		
Religion	1	Lower	Upper	
Respondent				
Christianity				
(Ref.)				
Islam	0.27	0.130		
Number of Previous		0.130	0.56	< 0.001
Pregnancies				
Four (Ref.)				
Оле	4.14	0.742	23.08	
Two	4.51	0.987	20.60	0.11
Number of living			20.00	0.05
children				
One (Ref.)				
Two	0.98	0.055	2.67	00.1
Does your husband				
live and work in the				
same town where you				
live?				
No (Ref.)				
Yes	1.29	0.531	3.13	0.58
Age of Respondent				
Less than 30 years (
Ref.)				
30 to 35years	1.43	0.690	2.97	0.34
Greater than 35 years	0.44	0.154	1.27	0.13
Age of Husband of				
Respondent				
Less than 30 years (
Ref.)				
30 to 39 years	1.20	0.103	0.41	0.14
40 sears and above	0.60	0.005	0.18	0.05

4.12 Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during Labour

The results presented in Table 4.13 below, shows that the number of antenatal visits which the husband attended, the age of the respondent and age of the husband of the respondent are predictors for involvement of husbands in the maternal care of their wives during the period of Labour. The table 4.13 shows that respondents who their husbands attended ANC at least twice during the course of pregnancy were two times statistically more likely to want their husbands involved in their care as opposed to those who their husbands did not come for the ANC even for once (95%CI=1.369-13.569,p<0.013). Respondents who their husbands followed for ANC about three times are statistically 7 times more likely to want such husbands to be involved in their labour than respondents who the husbands did not come for ANC even for once.(95%CI=1.835-25.620,P=0.004).As also seen within this study respondents which their husbands attended ANC four times and above are even 11 times statistically more likely to want such husbands involved in their care during labour as opposed to those who their husbands did not attend ANC even for once (95% CI=3.131-40.510 P<0.001)

Table 4.13 also showed age of the respondent to be a predictor to husband's involvement in care for their wives during labour as women between the age of 30 to 35 are about 4 times statistically more likely to prefer their husbands to be involved in their maternal care during the period of labour as opposed to respondents which are less than 30 years old.(95%CJ=1.589-8.308 P=0.002). The age of the husband of the respondent is also a predictor for husband involvement. Results from Table 4.13 showed that men who were between the ages of 30 to 39 years were statistically 4 times less likely to be involved in the care of their wives (95%C1=0.092-0.877 P=0.029) than men who were less than 30 years while men who had ages which were greater than 40 were statistically 9 times less likely to be involved in the care of their wives when compared with men who were aged less than 30 years (95% C = 0.027-0.436 P=0.002)

Table 4.13: Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during Labour

VARIABLE	OR	95% C.I		
Ethnicity	of	Lower	Upper	
Respondent				
Yoruba (Ref.)				
lgbo	1.08	0.40		
Hausa	0.27	0.42	2.41	0.99
Others	0.18	0.03	2.11	0.21
Were you living with		0.04	0.78	0 02
your partner durin				
pregnancy?				
Yes(Ref.)				
No	0.35	0.073	1.68	0.19
Respondent Livin				0.17
with Partner				
Yes (Ref.)				
No	1.47	0.463	4.67	0.51
Religion	of			
Respondent				
Christianity (Ref.)				
Islam	1.18	552	2.50	0.68
llusband's level o	of			
Education attained				
Primary School (Ref.)				
Secondary School	0.75	.084	6.63	0.80
Tertiary Institution	0.56	.063	4 98	0.60
Sumber of previous	IS			
regnancies				
Four and above (Ref)				
ne	0.05	0.004	0.62	0.02
WO	0.08	0.009	0.65	0.02
Three	1.34	0.297	6.02	0.71
lusband's number o	ſ			
Intenatal Visits				
one (Ref.)				
ne	2.43	0.806	7.33	0.12
`wo	4 30	1.369	13.53	0.01
hree	6.86	1.835	25.62	0.00

Table 4.13: Association between Socio demographic factors and Husband's involvement during Labour (Cont.)

VARIABLE	OR	95% C.1		P-Value
		Lower	Upper	
Does your husband				
work in the same				
town where you live?				
No (Ref)				
Yes	1.25	0.456	3.42	0.67
Age of Respondent			3.72	0.07
Less than 30 years (
Ref.)				
30 to 35 Years	3.63	1.589	8.31	0.00
Greater than 35 years	1.41	0.411	4.87	0.58
Age of Husband of				0.50
Respondent				
Less than 30 years (
Ref.)				
30 to 39 years	0 .28	0.092	0.88	0.03
Greater than 40 years	0.11	0.027	0.44	0.00
Number of living				
children of				
Respondent				
One (Ref.)				
Гwо	2.15	0.632	7.32	0.22
Three and above	0.19	0.025	1.44	0.11

4.13: Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect to husband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post-partum

Women who attended primary 14(100%) all preferred their husbands to be lowly involved in the maternal care in general while of those who attended secondary school scores were almost even on both sides as 50% preferred high involvement of husband and another 50 % wanted low involvement of husbands in their care. The same can be said for women who attended tertiary institution with 50 % wanting high involvement of their husbands and 50 wanting husband involvement in their care to be low.

Respondents with low family income of 1N to 10,000N, 25(83%) of them preferred husbands to have low involvement in their care while 114(60%) of those earning an average family income of 10,001N - 50,000N wanted their husbands to be highly involved in their care. Those earning 50,001N to 100,000N, 27(28%) of them wanted high level of involvement of their husbands in their maternal care.

Among our respondents, 111(52%) of the Christians wanted a high level of involvement from their husband in their maternal care while 48(42%) of the respondents who were Muslims wanted such high level of involvement of their husbands in maternal care. With respect to the husband's level of education attained, respondents preferred about the same thing with 50% of respondents with tertiary graduate husbands wanting high level involvement of their husband in their care and 48% of wives with secondary school leavers for husbands also wanting high level of involvement of their husbands in their care.

Among respondents with one living child, 77(61%) preferred low involvement of their husbands in their care from pregnancy to postpartum. Women with two living children, 76(55%) wanted a high level of involvement of their husbands in their care while 49% of women with three children and above wanted a high level of involvement of their husbands in their care. About 63 (58%)of our women who had just one previous pregnancy wanted a low level of involvement of their husband in their care, while 77(58%) also wanted low involvement of their husbands in their maternal care. Within this study 53% of the women who had four and above pregnancies wanted low involvement of their husbands in their care

Table 4.14: Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect to husband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post partum

Variable	Low preference	High preference		
	for Husband's	for Husband's	X	p- Value
	involvement in	involvement in		
	care	care		
Age of Respondent	63 (45.7)	75 (54.3)	4.513	0.105
30 to 35 years	86 (58.1)	62 (41.9)		
Greater than 35years	26 (54.2)	22 (45.8)		
Age of Ilusband of				
respondent				0.716
Less than 30 years	20 (51.3)	19 (487)	0.669	0.710
30 to39 years	99 (51.3)	94 (487)		
Greater than 40	54 (56.3)	42 (438)		
Level of Edu. Of				
Respondent			12.797	0.00 1
Primary school	14 (10 0.0)	0(00)	13.272	
Secondary school	71 (50.4)	70 (49 6)		
Tertiary	89 (50.3)	88 (49 7)		
Ethnicity			4.224	0.238
Yoruba	111 (51.6)	104 (48 4)	71624	
lgbo	45 (48.9)	47 (51.1)		
Hausa	4 (80.0)	1 (20.0)		
Others	15 (68.2)	7 (318)		
Marital status of				
Respondent		2 (50 0)	1.264	0.536
Single	2 (50.0)	153 (47.1)		
Married	172 (52.9)	3 (75.0)		
Separated	1 (25.0)			
Were you hying				
withyour				
husband durin	ng			
pregnancy?		11 (68.8)	2.972	0.085
No	5 (31.3)	148 (46.7)		
Yes	169 (53.3)			
Average fami	ily			< 0.001
income		5 (16.7)	39.864	V.001
IN - 10,000N	25 (83.3)	114 (60.0)		
10,001N - 50,000N	76 (40.0)	27 (28.4)		
50,001N - 100,000N	68 (71.6)			

Table 4.14: Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect to husband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post partum (Cont.)

Variable	Low preference for Husband's involvement in care	High preference for Husband's involvement in care	X ²	p- Value
Were you living				
with your				
husband during				
pregnancy?				
No	5 (31.3)	11 (68.8)	2.972	0.085
Yes	169 (53.3)	148 (46.7)		
Average family				
income				~ 0.001
1N = 10,000N	25 (83.3)	5 (16.7)	39864	< 0.001
10,001N - 50,000N	76 (40.0)	114 (60.0)		
50,001N - 100,000N	68 (71.6)	27 (28 4)		
100.001N and above	6 (33.3)	12 (66.7)		
Family setting of				
Respondent			0.062	0.803
Monogamy	160 (52.5)	145(47.5)	0.002	
Polygamy	14 (50.0)	14 (50 0)		
Religion of				
Respondnet		111(510)	8.395	0.015
Christianity	103 (48.1)	111 (51.9)	0,077	
Islam	66 (57 9)	48 (42.1)		
Husband's level				
of Educatio	n			
Attained		0(00)	7.72	0.021
Primary school	8(1000)	53 (482)		
Secondary School	57 (51.8)	106 (50 0)		
TertiaryInstitution	106 (50.0)			
Does your husban	ıd			
work in				
the same town when	re			
you live?		21 (50.0)	0.079	0.778
No	21 (50.0)	133 (17.7)		
Yes	146 (52.3)			

Table 4.14: Association between socio demographic characteristics and preference of women with respect to husband's involvement in wives' care during pregnancy, labour and post partum (Cont.)

Variable	Low preserence			post partum (Com.
	for Husband's	for Husband's	X^2	p- Value
	involvement in	involvement in		
	care	care		
Previous Pregnancy				
of Respondents				
One	63 (58.3)	45 (41.7)	16.30	0.001
Two	77 (57.9)	56 (42.1)		
Three	17 (28.8)	42 (71.2)		
Four and above	18 (52.9)	16 (47-1)		
Are you living with				
your husband/partner				
No	10 (35.7)	18 (64.3)	3.476	0.062
Yes	165 (54.1)	140 (45.9)		
Number of living	g			
children				
One	77 (60.6)	50 (39.4)	6.308	0.043
Two	63 (45.3)	76 (54.7)		
Three and above	34 (50.7)	33 (49.3)		

4.14 Association between number of Babies on Scan result and Husband's Involvement in Pregnancy

Results of our study showed that husbands with scan results which indicated that the couple were expecting a single child had a high involvement of about 68% while husbands which were expecting multiple children had a higher involvement in their wives care of about 82%. The results showed statistical significance.

Table 4.15 Number of Babies on Scan result and Husband's Involvement in Pregnancy

Number of babies on scan result	Low Involvement of Husband	High Involvement of Husband	X ²	P- Value
Single child	91 (32.5)	189 (67.5)	3.937	0.047
Multiple children	9 (18.4)	40 (81.6)		

4.15 Association between Husband's involvement in Antenatal care and Admission during pregnancy

On the table 4.16 below we can see that 60 % of our respondents who were not admitted during the course of their pregnancy had their husbands highly involved in their care, while for women who were admitted a higher percentage of 56% of their men offered low involvement in the care of such women. The results on this table were statistically significant.

Table 4.16: Association between Husband's involvement in Antenatal care and Admission during pregnancy

Admission during	Low involvement	High Involvement	X ²	P- value	
pregnancy	of Husband n(%)	of Husband n(%)			
No	106 (39.8)	160 (60.2)	5.657	0.017	
Yes	30 (57.5)	22 (42.3)			

4.16 Association between Husband's involvement in Labour and complication during labour and delivery

Table 4.17shows that women without any complication during delivery had a high percentage of High involvement of Husbands in their care which was about 70% while those with complications the Husbands involvement had come down by 6% to 64.9% but the results were not statistically significant.

Tuble 4.17: Association between Husband's involvement in Labor and complication during labor and delivery

Complica	ation	Low involvement	High Involvement	X²	P- value
during Labour		of Husband n (%)	of Husband n (%)		
and Deli	very				
No		86 (29.9)	202 (70.1)	0.431	0.512
Yes		13 (35.1)	24 (64.9)		

CHAPTER FIVE

5.1 DISCUSSION

This study found that the level of participation of men in the care of their wives during pregnancy, labour and post-partum was low and could still be improved upon. Just about a third of the husbands of our respondents accompanied their wives for ANC and about half of the men went with their wives for ultrasound scan. About two –thirds of the husbands of our respondents were around during the onset of Labour and followed their wives to the hospital when she went to deliver the baby. About one-third of the husbands followed their wives for Post natal clinic which included breastfeeding, family planning and immunization clinics. Pregnancy and childbirth seemed to be viewed as purely a women's affair .Evidence showed that women preferred their husbands as support persons during labour (Morhason-Bello 2007). Psychosocial support has been associated with better outcomes of delivery such as reduced C- section rate, shorter duration of labour and less painful labour as well as earlier initiation of breast feeding Morhason-Bello et al (2009).

Within our study we found out that two thirds of the husbands were reportedly present during the onset of labour and did accompany their wives to the hospital for delivery and also ran errands for their wives during labour. This is commendable bearing in mind that in traditional Nigerian society men are not allowed into the delivery rooms with their wives yet there is room for improvement. These findings were expected as it supports the submissions of Adenike et al (2013) that the involvement of men in the health care of their wives was low as only a quarter of respondents had ever followed their wives to family planning clinics, antenatal clinics and delivery rooms. These results show that men still lag behind in their responsibilities in improving maternal health and health workers have work to do in encouraging men to be more involved in the care of their wives during pregnancy and child birth as the benefits out way whatever cost there is to such support.

In this study about one third of the husbands accompanied their wives to post natal clinic. When it came to post natal care, responses showed that about two thirds of the men encouraged their wives to breastfeed the new born baby. About half of the men discussed family planning uptake with their wives and close to two thirds of the women reported their husbands woke at night to soothe the baby when he/she was crying. As expected a high percentage of the men reportedly settled any financial obligation involved in PNC of their wives. A little above half of the men reportedly knew how to and changed diapers for their infants, and could also bathe the infant.

This study as part of its objectives, set out to determine the preference and expectation of women with respect to their husband's involvement in their care during pregnancy and childbirth. Findings from this

research showed that women wanted their husbands deeply involved in their care as a very high percentage agreed that the support of their husbands gave emotional security and that women are better off at this trying period with their husband's support. The results of this study showed that women in this part of the country were open to the idea of a paternity leave for their husbands in order to improve their involvement in the care of their wives. This submission supports findings of Sokoya et al (2014) whose study revealed that women considered husbands' support during pregnancy, labour and delivery important to be necessary. Some of the effects of husbands support as described by the women in Sokoya et al's study are encouragement, emotional security and lower level of stress. Men should be further encouraged by the health providers and collaborators at community, state and National level to be more involved in the care of their wives during this period.

Barriers towards the involvement of men according to this study mainly were culture and religion as well as ridicule from other men. These were the possible barriers to the involvement of men in the care of their wives. This findings were supported by a study conducted in Malawi by Kululanga et al (2012) where some of these barriers did come to play including culture. Elderly women in Malawi Considered it a thing of shame for a man to watch his wife deliver a child. This result is expected in line with the context of traditional African societies which exists with its own peculiar norms and specifically assigned gender roles. A study done in Northern Nigeria by Zubairu et al (2010) opines that some of the reasons for low participation of husbands to include: ignorance, poverty, cultural and religious factors. A lot of enlightenment has to be done to disabuse the minds of men in this part of the world and encourage them to involve themselves more in the care of their wives with health care providers also providing concrete roles for men to fit into during pregnancy and childbirth.

Results of this study showed that women with high involvement of their husbands in their care had lesser complications of pregnancy and childbirth as compared to women with low involvement of husbands in their care confirming that spousal support and improved outcomes of delivery was related as postulated by Morhason –Bello et al (2009). This is an important submission as this means that effort has to be intensified to get more husbands involved in the care of their wives as a way of improving outcomes of pregnancy.

Husband's Involvement During Ante Natal Care

Studies have shown husbands and men to be critical partners for the improvement of maternal health and reduction of maternal mortality can be clearly demonstrated in the area of antenatal care (ANC) of which their social, emotional and economical inputs cannot be underestimated Adenike, et al (2013). Within our study the respondents agreed that 9 out of 10 of their husbands were happy to hear that they were pregnant while a high percentage of the husbands of respondents encouraged their wives to book for and attend ANC. Our study showed that a very low percentage of men ever accompanied their wives to ANC showing that Nigerian men were yet to fully grasp the importance of psychosocial support in the care of

their wives. This finding is similar to what Adenike et al reported in 2013 as their results showed only about 24% of men had ever accompanied their wives on ANC. Study conducted by Obi et al (2013) identified low level of male involvement with regard to ANC with marked improvement in attendance being reported during labour/emergencies as against ANC attendance.

Education plays a big role in the level of involvement of our men in the care of their wives. Response from participants of our study showed that men with tertiary institution level of Education had a higher level of involvement of their husband in their care than those who went to either secondary or primary school. Income seems to have a profound effect on the involvement of husbands in the care of their wives. The analysis done on our study data showed that men earning above a hundred thousand naira as monthly family income had high involvement in the care of their wives and the level of involvement seemed to decrease with income. Our results showed that respondents of the Muslim faith were four times less likely than their counterparts from the Christian faith to want the involvement of their husbands in their care. The reasons for this seems to have been stated by Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye (2014) who said that attitude of spouses toward husband's participation in maternal care is strongly opposes physical presence of husbands in the labour room during delivery due to the strong cultural and religious effects of Islamic law among Muslim faithful especially as seen among husbands in the Northern part of the country. Older women from forty years and above seemed to want less involvement of their husbands in their care as opposed to women with younger husbands. Women with younger husbands wanted such husbands completely involved in their care.

Husband's Involvement During Labour

For Partners who were co-habiting i.e. living together, this study showed husbands in such relationships had a higher involvement in their wives care during labour. This goes to prove the importance of man and wife living together to aid in bonding of the couple. Education also had a role to play as couples within which the husbands attended tertiary institution had a higher percentage of men with high involvement in their wives care during labour. This goes to show that the more educated a man was the more he understood the importance of social support for the wife during the period of labour and pregnancy. With increasing number of pregnancies husbands of respondents within this study got more involved in the labour of their wives. This might be because as the partners of our respondents went through the process of labour they seemed to understand more the dangers involved in labour and thereby involve themselves even more in the care of their wives during labour. These findings were corroborated by Vehviläinen-Julkunen and Emelonye (2014)who said that education is seen as a very significant factor in determining spousal participation in delivery as an evident in the finding that most men that accompany their wives to the hospital in Nigeria are literate and are well informed

about the birth processes. This contrasts with the findings that illiterate spouses that constitute the higher percentage of spouses in Nigeria do not accompany their wives but hold the belief that they only have financial obligation towards childbirth

As expected by the researcher, the number of times a husband attended ANC with the respondent played a role in the level of involvement of the husbands in the care of their wives during labour. Results showed us that with increasing number of visits to the ANC the men had higher scores and higher level of involvement in their wives care during the period of labour. Living in the same town with the husbands of the respondent was also a factor responsible for the level of involvement of the husband in the wives care. Within couples who lived in the same town we observed a higher percentage of such husbands offered high level of involvement in their wives care during labour and delivery while men not living in the same town with their wives could not offer such high percentage of high level of involvement in the care of their wives.

Within this study we observed that age of the wife to be a predictor to husband's involvement in care for their wives during labour as women between the age of 30 to 35 are about 4 times statistically more likely to prefer their husbands to be involved in their maternal care during the period of labour as opposed to respondents which are less than 30 years old. Age of the husband of our respondent also played a role as results showed that men who were between the ages of 30 to 39 years were statistically 4 times less likely to be involved in the care of their wives than men who were less than 30 years while men who had ages which were greater than 40 were statistically 9 times less likely to be involved in the care of their wives when compared with men who were aged less than 30 years. This suggests that the older men got the more involved they got with their wives especially in terms of providing social support for such wives during the period of labour.

Husband's involvement during Post natal care

Culture plays a role on post natal involvement of husbands in the care of their wives. Respondents of the Igbo ethnic group reported a high level of involvement of their husbands in the care during post natal period while respondents from the Yoruba ethnic group had about half of their husband offering high involvement in the care of their wives. This result seemed to suggest that cultural differences play a role in the care offered by husbands for their wives. For women living with their husbands a little over half of them reported a high involvement of their husbands in their care while just about a low percent of those not living with their husbands could provide the same high level of involvement of their husbands in post natal care.

Relationship status whether monogamous or polygamous in nature also had a role to play in the level of care offered by husbands towards their wives during the post natal period. Respondents in monogamous relationships reported a high level of involvement of their husbands in their care during

post natal period while those in polygamous homes and relationships had a much lower percentage of their husbands offering high involvement in their care during the period of post natal care.

Results of this study showed that women without any complication during delivery had a high percentage of High involvement of Husbands in their care while those with complications had a higher percentage of low involvement of husbands but the results were not statistically significant. This goes to show that husband involvement in maternal care goes a long way in bringing forth better outcomes of pregnancy. Within our study, respondents who had high involvement of husband in their care had bener outcomes with a much lesser number of such participants having one complication or the other this supports earlier findings by Morhason-Bello et al (2007) that Psycho-social support has been shown to be associated with better delivery outcomes.

Preferences and Barriers towards Male involvement in Maternal care of their Women from Pregnancy to Post-partum

This study was concluded by examining the preferences of women and sampling their opinions towards the involvement of their husbands in their care during the period of pregnancy through to post-partum. The study went a step further to determine the possible barriers if there were any towards the involvement of men in the maternal care of the women involved in this study. Literature has shown a variety of factors that hinder husbands from participating in maternal health care, Family income also seems to play a role in preference of women as women in families earning just below N10,000 wanted more of low involvement of husbands in their care. Women who were in families earning an upwards of above N10,000 had a higher percentage being favourably disposed to having high involvement of their husbands in their care.

The total number of women who agreed or strongly agreed that husband's support was necessary for a woman in pregnancy and labour was very high.

From our results a large percentage of the women agreed that men had a role to play in family planning while 4 out of every 5 women totalling about 83% wanted their husbands to be present in the delivery room while they were giving birth or going into Labour. This supports the findings of Morhason-Bello et al (2007) who said that evidence has shown that Nigerian women desire their spouse as support persons during childbirth. Well over three-quarters of our respondents felt that a paternity leave will help to improve husband's involvement in the maternal care of their wives while just a little over half of our respondents felt that 1-30 days was sufficient time for such a leave. In our study we gathered that about 4 in every 5 of our respondents felt that their husband's support during pregnancy brought them emotional support and strength making it easy for them to carry on in the face of challenges associated with pregnancy and child birth.

When we come to the issue of barriers to male involvement in maternal care, this study found out that a large number of our respondents agreed that ridicule from other men could affect the level of involvement of their husbands in their care and so placed ridicule as one of the barriers to male involvement in maternal care. Respondents felt that health care professionals were doing enough to encourage male participation. On the issue of culture, there was no clear consensus on if cultural differences could be seen to be a barrier to male involvement or if culture did encourage male participation in maternal care according to results of this study. Men are traditionally not allowed into delivery rooms in Nigeria and 65% of our respondents agreed that men should not be allowed into the delivery rooms even though their involvement in their wives care should be improved but not with the men being allowed into the delivery rooms along with their wives.

LIMITATION AND STRENGHTS OF THE STUDY

The responses of our respondents were likely to be prone to social desirability bias as answers of some participants were likely to be socially acceptable responses. By virtue of being a cross-sectional study, temporality bias was a major limitation of this study. The study was conducted only among women attending post natal care in Adeoyo Maternity so results may not represent all women in the region or country and therefore we cannot generalize the results. The participants also suffered from recall bias making them not certain of all answers especially on questions about the involvement of husbands during ANC. This study is based on self-reporting and thus may be difficult to verify claims of the respondents.

5.3CONCLUSION

. This study has shown male involvement and support for pregnant women and women in labour or post partum period to be low. The study also went further to prove that male involvement is important and can indeed lead to better outcomes of delivery and less or no complications during pregnancy and delivery. This study has also shown preferences of women, a much larger percentage of the women prefer and in fact want their husbands fully and highly involved in their care. Women sampled in this study want their husbands to get paternity leave from work for about a month to make them more involved in their care.

5.4 RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the findings of this study:

Men should be encouraged by health care personnel using various means and channels such as mass media and social media to involve themselves more in the care of their wives during pregnancy and childbirth with the benefits of such involvement clearly spelt out for the men to see and understand.

The issue of a paternity leave for men should be extensively researched and studied by government and its agencies as well as policy makers to determine if there is any merit to such an idea and if found to improve male involvement then it should be included in our existing labour laws for workers in our country

There should be improved collaboration between health care providers and others stakeholders such as the Federal Government its ministries and agencies, policy formulators and regulators, religious leaders, Labour leaders, the academia, organized private sector, culture custodians such as Kings, Queens and regents etc. on how to improve maternal health by encouraging spousal support in the care of their wives in other to achieve better outcomes of delivery as the involvement of men is still low and can be improved.

REFRENCES

- Ahmed, Waqas, Nahal Raza, Haneen Wajid Lodhi, Zerwah Muhammad, Mehak Jamal, Abdul Rehman(2015) Psychosocial Factors of Antenatal Anxiety and Depression in Pakistan: Is Support a Mediator? PLoS ONE 10(1):e0116510_doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116510
- Akinyemi Joshua Odunayo, Elijah Afolabi Bamgboye and Olusola Ayeni (2015). Trends in neonatal mortality in Nigeria and effects of bio-demographic and maternal characteristics. BMC Pediatrics (2015) 15-36 DOI 10.1186/s12887-015-0349-0
- Alexandra, B. B., Angelika H. Claussen, D. Camille Smith, M.S., Ed.S., Susanna N. Visser, M.S.,
 Melody Johnson Morales, Ph.D., and RUTH PEROU, P(2007) Social Support Networks and
 Maternal Mental Health and Well-Being. JOURNAL OF WOMEN'S HealthVolume 16, Number
 10, 2007© Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.DOI: 10.1089/jwh.2007.CDC10
- Balaji alexandra b, Angelika h. claussen, . Camille smith and Susanna n. Visser. Social Support

 Networks and Maternal Mental Health and Well-Being JOURNAL OF WOMEN'S

 HEALTHVolume 16, Number 10, 2007 © Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. DOI: 10.1089/jwh.2007.CDC10
- Beibei Yuan, Mats Målqvist, Nadja Trygg, Xu Qian, Nawi Ngand Sarah Thomsen (2014).

 What interventions are effective on reducing inequalities in maternal and child health in low- and middle-income settings? A systematic review. BMC Public Health 2014, 14:634

 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/14/634
- Care, A., & More, R. (2015). Unicef Statistics, 1-8.
- Carol Ann Roth (2004). A Survey of Perceived Social Support Among Pregnant Women In The Intermountain Region.
- Collins Nancy, Christine Dunkel-Schetter, Marci Lobel, and Susan C. M. Scrimshaw (1993)

 Social Support in Pregnancy: Psychosocial Correlates of Birth Outcomes and Postpartum

 Depression Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1993, Vol. 65, No. 6, 1243-1258

 Copyright 1993 by the American Psychological Association, Inc. 0022-3514/93/S3 00
- Dumbaugh Mari, Charlotte Tawiah-Agyemang, Alexander Manu, Guus HA ten Asbroek, Betty

 Kirkwood (2014). Perceptions of, attitudes towards and barriers to male involvement in newborn

 care in rural Ghana. West Africa: a qualitative analysis BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2014,

 14 269http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2393/14/269
- Debra Singh, May Lample and Jaya Earnest (2014) The involvement of men in maternal health care: cross-sectional, pilot case studies from Maligita and Kibibi. Uganda. Reproductive Health journal 2014, 11:68 http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/11/1/68
- Fagbamigbe Adeniyi Francis and Idemudia Erhabor Sunday (2015) Barriers to antenatal care use in Nigeria: evidences from non-users and implications for maternal health programming.

 BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth (2015) 15:95 DOI 10 1186/s12884-015-0527-y

- Farhana Kazmi, ,Munza Khan ,Roshan Tahir ,Sher Dil ,Asima Mehboob Khan (2013) Relationship between Social Support and Postpartum Depression
- Farhat Khanum, Farhat Nasreen, Mehr-un-Nisa (2013) MATERNAL MORTAILITY IN A

 TERTIARY CARE HOSPITAL A CONTINUING TRAEGEDY J. Med Sci. (Peshowar, Print)

 October 2013, Vol. 21, No. 4: 212216
- Farrokh-eslamlou Hamidreza, Aghlmand Siamak, OSHNOUEI Sima (2014). Persistence of Hemorrhage and Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy (HDP) as the Main Causes of Maternal Mortality: Emergence of Medical Errors in Iranian Healthcare System. Iranian J Pub Health, Vol. 43, No 10, Oct 2014, pp. 1395-1404
- Kendall and Langer (2015) Critical maternal health knowledge gaps inlow- and middle-income countries for thepost-2015 era Journal of Reproductive Health (2015 12 DOI 10.1186/s12978-015-0044-5
- Kasiulevičius, V. Šapoka, R. Filipavičiūtė (2006). Sample size calculation in epidemiological studies Gerontologija 2006; 7(4): 225–231
- Lassi Zohra S, Tarab Mansoor, Rehana A Salam, Jai K Das, Zulfiqar A Bhutta (2014) Essential pre-pregnancy and pregnancy interventions for improved maternal, newborn and child health.

 Journal of Reproductive Health 2014, 11(Suppl 1) S2http://www.reproductive-health-journal com/content/11/S1/S
- Ludovica laccino (2014) Top Five Countries with Highest Rates of Maternal Mortality UK EDITION TUESDAY, 19TII MAY, 2015
- Lucy I Kululang, Johanne Sundby, Address Malata and Ellen Chirwa (2012) Male Involvement in Maternity Health Care in Malawi. Afr J Reprod Health 2012. 16[1] 1.15-157
- Mangeni Judith Nekesa Mangeni Ann Mwangi Samwel Mbugua Vincent Muktha (2013) Male Involvement in Maternal Health Care as a Determinant of Utilization of Skilled Birth Attendants in Kenya DHS Working Papers series is an unreviewed prepublication series of papers reporting on research in progress that is based on Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) data.
- Mari Dumbaugh, Charlotte Tawiah-Agyemang, Alexander Manu, Guus HA Asbroek. Betty Kirkwood and Zelee Hill (2014) Perceptions of, attitudes towards and barriers to male involvement in newborn care in rural Ghana, West Africa: a qualitative analysis BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2014, 14 269 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2393/14/269
- Morhason-Bello, Olayemi.o., Ojengbede.o.a ,Adedokun.b.o , Okuyemi. and. Orji (2007) Attitude and

preferences of Nigerian antenatal women to social support during labour J.biosoc Sci. (2008) 40. 553-562. _ 2007 Cambridge University Press doi:10.1017/S0021932007002520 First published online 8 Nov 2007

- Morhason-Bello, Adedokun Babatunde O and Ojengbede. A. (2009) Social support during childbirth as a catalyst for early breastfeeding initiation for first-time Nigerian mothers International Breastfeeding Journal 2009, 4:16 doi:10.1186/1746-4358-4-16 This article is available from http://www.internationalbreastfeedingjournal.com/content/4/1716
- Mukobi peter (2012). Assessing The Approaches To MalePartner Involvement In PMTCT In Uganda.
- Nancy L. Collins, Christine Dunkel-Schetter, Marci Lobel, and Su san C. M. Scrimshaw (1993). Social Support in Pregnancy: Psychosocial Correlates of Birth Outcomes and Postpartum Depression.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1993, Vol. 65, No. 6, 12-13-1258
- Naomi Walston (2005). Challenges and Opportunities for Male Involvement in Reproductive Health in Cambodia
- National Population Commission (NPC) [Nigeria] and ICF International 2014 Nigeria Demographic and Isealth Survey 2013 Abuja, Nigeria, and Rockville, Maryland, USA NPC and ICF International
- Ndep o. Anton (2014). Informed Community Participation is Essential to reducing maternal mortality in nigeria. International Journal of Health and Psychology Research Vol 2. Issue 1, pp 26-33, March 2014 Published by European Centre for Research Training and Development UK (www.ea-journals.org)
- Neil Andersson, Khalid Omer, Dawn Caldwell, Mohammed Musa Dambam, Ahmed Yahya Maikudi4,

 Bassey Effiong, Edet Ikpi, Etuk Udofia, Amir Khan, Umaira Ansari, Noor Ansar, Candyce

 Hamel (2011). Male responsibility and maternal morbidity: A cross-sectional study in two

 Nigerian states

 BMC Health Services Research 2011,11(Suppl 2).57

 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1.172-6963/11/S2/S7
- Nusrat Shah, Nazli Hossain, Rizwana Shoaib, Ayesha Hussain, Rehma Gillani and Nusrat H. Khan (2008). Socio-demographic Characteristics and the Three Delays of Maternal Mortality
- Obi Al, Abe E, Okojie OH (2013). Male and Community Involvement in Birth Preparedness and Complication Readiness in Benin City, Southern Nigeria. IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences (IOSR-JDMS) e-ISSN: 2279-0853, p-ISSN: 2279-0861 Volume 10, Issue 6 (Sep Oct 2013), PP 27-32 www.iosrjournals org27 | Page

- Oladosu A.Ojengbede, ImranO.Morhason- Bello, Babatunde O.Adedokun, StanBecker, GbolahanOni, AmyTsui (2009). Husbands support during childbirth as a catalyst for modern family planning uptake in Nigeria: A randomized controlled trial.
- Olugbenga-Bello Adenike I. Asekun-Olarinmoye, E. O. A. A. O., Adeomi, A. A., & Olarewaju, S. O. (2013). Perception, attitude and involvement of men in maternal health care in a Nigerian community, 5(June), 262-270. http://doi.org/10.5897/JPHE2013.0505
- Paulo, Chetto (2014). Review Of Maternal Deaths At Muhimbili National Hospital, Tanzania 2011
- RiNi Christen, Christine Dunkel Schetter, B Calvin J. Hobel, C Laura M. Glynn, D And Curt A.

 Sandman (2006). Effective social support: Antecedents and consequences of partner support during pregnancy. Personal Relationships, (2006), 207–229. Printed in the United States of America Copyright 2006 IARR. 1350-4126 = 06
- Somefun Oluwaseyi Dolapo and Latifat Ibisomi (2016) Determinants of postnatal care nonutilization among women in Nigeria BMC Res Notes (2016) 9:21 DOI 10 1186/s13104-015-1823-3
- Signh, Debra. Jaya, Earnest (2014). The involvement of men in maternal care: cross-sectional, pilot case studies from Maligita and Kibibi, Uganda
- Sajedinejad Sima, Reza Majdzadeh, AbouAli Vedadhir, Mahmoud Ghazi Tabatabaei and Kazem Mohammad (2015) Maternal mortality: A cross-sectional study in global health
- Sokoya, Mosunmola, Farotimi, Adekunbi, Ojewole, Foluso, Women's perception of husbands' support during pregnancy, labour and delivery (2014) IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science (IOSR-JNHS) e-ISSN 2320-1959.p- ISSN 2320-1940 Volume 3, Issue 3 Ver. 1 (May-Jun 2014), PP 45-50 www tosrjournals org www iosrjournals org 45 | Page
- UNFPA(2014) Adding It Up: Investing in Sexual and Reproductive Health

 http://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource

 pdf/383%20AIU3%20Global%20Fact%20sheet%20ENG%2011.20.14%20FINAL_1.pdf
- USAID (2015) Ending Preventable Maternal Mortality:USAID Maternal Health Vision for Action Evidence for Strategic Approaches
- Vehviläinen-Julkunen .K. and Emelonye . A.U (2014) Spousal Participation in Labor and Delivery in Nigeria .Ann Med Health Sci Res. 2014 Jul-Aug; 4(4): 511–515. doi: 10.4103/2141-9248.139290
- WHO. World Health Statistics (2014). Geneva, World Health Organization; 2014.
- WHO World Report (2005) The World Report . Make every mother and child count
- Yuan Beibei, Mats Målqvist, Nadja Trygg, Xu Qian, Nawi Ng and Sarah Thomsen (2014)

 What interventions are effective on reducing inequalities in maternal and child health in

low- and middle-income settings? A systematic review BMC Public Health 2014. 14.634 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/14/634

Zubairu Iliyasu, Isa S Abubakar. Hadiza S Galadanci and Muktar H Aliyu (2010) Birth

Preparedness, Complication Readiness and Fathers' Participation in Maternity Care in

Northern Nigerian Community. African Journal of Reproductive Health Mar 2010, 14(1).

APPENDIX A

DEPARTMENT OF EPIDEMIOLOGY AND MEDICAL STATISTICS FACULTY OF PUBLIC HEALTH UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN, IBADAN STUDY QUESTIONNAIRE

Questionnaire number Dear Respondent,
This questionnaire has been strictly designed for academic purpose. All information will be kept confidential and processed anonymously. Please make a cross on the option most appropriate to you, or complete the statement in the spaces provided, information required is for the successful completion of a research work titled "Husband's involvement in maternal care of women attending post natal clinic in Ibadan". Kindly please answer all questions with sincerity in other not to alter the accuracy of the data collected. Thank you for sparing your valuable time to complete this questionnaire QUESTIONNAIRE
SECTION A – Socio-demographic status of respondents
Age at last birthday(in years)
Level of Education attained (1). Primary school (2) Secondary school (3). Tertiary institution (4). No formal education
Ethnicity (1) Yoruba (2). Igbo (3). Hausa (4). others Magital status (1). Single (2). Magical (3). Separated (4). Diverged (5). Wideward
Marital status (1). Single (2). Married (3). Separated (4). Divorced (5) Widowed
Are you currently living with your husband/partner? (1)Yes (2)No Were you living with your husband during the last pregnancy and delivery? (1) Yes (2) No
What if your occupation? What is your average family income ?(1) 1N-N10,000 (2) N10,001- N50,000 (3)N50,001- N100,000 (4)
N100,001 and above
Family setting (1) Monogamy (2) Polygamy (3) others
If polygamy was your answer in question 7, how many wives has your husband? (1) two (2) Three (3)
four and above
If polygamy was your answer in question 7, what position are you? (1) First wife (2) Second wife (3)
Third wife (4) Fourth wife and above
Religion (1) Christianity (2) Islam (3) Others
Husband's level of education attained (1). Primary school (2) Secondary school (3). Tertiary institution
(4). No formal education
What is your husband's occupation?
Husband age at last birthday(in years)
Truspand age at last officially

How many previous pregnancies have you had? (1) one (2) Two (3) Three (4) Four and above. What is the number of living children you have? (1) one (2) Two (3) Three (4) Four and above

SECTION B - HUSBAND'S LEVEL OF INVOLVEMENT

USBAND'S INVOLVEMENT DURING PREGNANCY	YES	NO	NOT
			SURF
Did your husband respond positively to news of the pregnancy?			1/5
Did your husband encourage you to book for ante natal visit			
Did your husband accompany you for any ante natal visit			
Was there any physical violence from your husband during pregnancy?			
Did your husband say kind words to you whenever you were tired?			
Did your husband assist in house chores during pregnancy?			
Did husbands' buy gifts and presents for you when coming back			
from work?			
Did husband give massages and back rubs during pregnancy?			
Did husband provide for your financial needs during pregnancy?			

How many ante natal visits did you attend in your most recent pregnancy? (1) None (2) one (3) two (3) three (4) four and above

How many times did your husband visit ante natal clinic with you? (1) None (2) once (3) twice (4) three

(5) four and above

Does your husband work in the same town where you live (1) No (2) Yes

What was the timing of your husband's visit (1) 1st trimester (2) 2nd trimester (3) 3rd trimester

Did your husband accompany you for ultrasound scans? (1) Yes (2) No

How many babies did the scan result show? (1) one (2) Two (3) Three (4) Four and above

Where did you deliver your baby? (1) At home (2) On the way to the hospital (3)At a health centre (4)

At a maternity centre (5) At the hospital

HUSBAND'S INVOLVEMENT IN LABOUR AND DELIVERY	YES	NO	NOT
Was your husband around from the onset of labour?			
Did the hospital allow your husband's presence in the delivery room?			
Was your husband present in the delivery room during delivery?			
Did your husband run errands for you during the period of labour and			

delivery?	
Did your husband support you financially by paying hospital bills	
during labour and delivery?	

Was there any complication during your pregnancy (1) Yes (2) No

If yes was your answer in question (39), what complication(s) did you have

Were you admitted during the course of your pregnancy? (1) Yes (2) No How would you rate your husband's support during the period of labour and delivery? Excellent (2) Very Good (3) Good (4) Poor (5) Very Poor

HUSBAND'S INVOLVEMENT IN POST NATAL AND BABY Y	ES NO	NOT
CARE		SURE
Did your husband accompany you for post natal visits?		
Did your husband discuss family planning uptake with you?		
Did your husband encourage you to breastfeed the baby?		
Did your husband wake up at night to soothe the baby?		
Did your husband provide for your financial needs from the period of		
pregnancy to the post natal period?		
Did your husband learn to change the diapers of the baby?		
Did your husband change diapers for the new baby?		
Did your husband assist you when you were bathing the child?		
Did your husband help in swabbing of the umbilical cord of the new		
born?		

Did you get any other kind of social support and help from relatives, friends. neighbours etc. during pregnancy, delivery and post-partum period? (1) No (2) Not sure (3) Yes

How would you rate your husband's support generally from the period of pregnancy, delivery and post –

partum? (1) Excellent (2) Very Good (3) Good (4) Poor (5) Very Poor

SECTION C -WOMEN'S PERCEPTION, PREFERENCE AND BARRIERS TO MALE INVOLVEMENT IN MATERNAL CARE

WOMEN'S PERCEPTION, PREFRENCE AND BARRIERS TO MALE INVOLVEMENT IN MATERNAL CARE Husband's support necessary during the period of pregnancy, labour, delivery and post natal period?	STRONG LY AGREE	AGR	UNDECIDE	DISAGRE	STRONG LY DIASGR EE
Men have a role to play in family planning in your own opinion				0	
Husbands should be present during labour and delivery					
A paternity leave will help to improve the level of involvement of husbands in the care of their wives during pregnancy?					
Husband's provision of needs give emotional security during the period of pregnancy and child birth					
The fear of ridicule by other men can discourage your husband from being involved in your welfare during and after pregnancy					

Did you feel encouraged by your husband's support during the period of pregnancy, delivery as well as post-partum? (1) Yes (2) No (3) Not sure

How many days will be alright for a paternity leave? (1) 1-30 days (2) 31-60 days (3) 61 - 90 days

Does your husband feel a need to be involved in your care? (1) Yes (2)No (3) Not sure

In your opinion, does your religion encourage men to be involved in maternal care? (1) Yes (2)No

(3)Not sure

In your experience, do health care providers encourage male participation in maternal care? (1) Yes (2)No (3)Not sure

Are men allowed into the delivery room in the health care facility you used? (1)Yes (2)No (3) Not sure Do you think your culture discourages male participation in maternal care of their wives and partners? (1) Yes (2) Not sure (3) No

Who do you prefer to give you help and social support during pregnancy, delivery and post-partum period? (1) Relatives (2) Mother- in-law (3) Mother (4) I-lusband (5) Others, Specify



MINISTRY OF HEALTH

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING, RESEARCH & STATISTICS DIVISION

PRIVATE MAIL BAG NO. 5027, OYO STA TE OF NIGERIA

January, 2016

The Principal Investigator,

Department of Epidemiology and Medical Statistics,

Faculty of Public Health,

College of Medicine,

Ibadan.

Attention: Umezurike Emeka

ETHICAL APPROVAL FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF YOUR RESEARCH PROPOSAL IN OYO STATE

This is to acknowledge that your Research Proposal titled "Husband's Involvement in Maternity Care among Women of Childbearing Age Attending Post Natal Clinic in Ibadan." has been reviewed by the Oyo state Review Ethical Committees.

- The committee has noted your compliance. In the light of this, I am pleased to convey to you the full approval by the committee for the implementation of the Research Proposal in Oyo State, Nigeria.
- 3. Please note that the National Code for Health Research Ethics requires you to comply with all institutional guidelines, rules and regulations, in line with this, the Committee will monitor closely and tollow up the implementation of the research study. However, the Ministry of Health would like to have a copy of the results and conclusions of findings as this will help in policy making in the health sector.
- 4. Wishing you all the best.

(Dr) Abbas Gbolahan

Director, Planning. Research & Statistics

Secretary, Oyo State, Research Ethical Review Committee